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Our Mission

As an ever present trusted partner,
our mission is to protect the vulnerable
and uphold the legacy of Victorians.
Our Role

State Trustees aligns its business
objectives to three essential
components of service provision:

1 2 3
Creating a quality of life for the
less fortunate and vulnerable

We draw attention to the importance
of financial administration through
stories about maintaining a quality
of ongoing daily living amidst life’s
hardships.

Protecting and creating legacy

Protecting our elderly

We promote the importance of
wills, executor services and trusts by
reminding people that it’s the things
we leave behind that say the most
about who we are.

We highlight the importance of
powers of attorney whilst working
to eradicate financial abuse.

Our Approach

State Trustees’ service approach
is based on three core principles:

1 2 3
We pride ourselves on listening
carefully and prioritising community
outcomes for Victorians.

4

Protecting what matters.

We prioritise the building of
community relationships to educate
and build awareness on the challenges
State Trustees are passionate about.

We are continually developing new
ways to improve the lives of Victorians.
We do this by working collaboratively
with Government and community
sectors to ensure, at all times, that
State Trustees’ services are of direct
benefit to the community.

About State Trustees
State Trustees is the public trustee for
Victoria, and a state-owned company.
State Trustees has built a
reputation for serving the Victorian
community for almost 80 years
administering deceased estates and
managing the financial and legal
affairs of people who are unable to
do so due to disability, mental illness
or other incapacity.

State Trustees provides clients with
financial and legal assistance during
all stages of their life, including
specialised services and products
such as Will Writing, Powers of
Attorney, Executor Services, Trustee
Services, and Personal Financial
Administration.

Our History
As Victoria’s public trustee, State
Trustees has been helping protect the
interests of Victorians since 1939.

State Government-owned company
in 1994. The Victorian State Treasurer
is our sole shareholder.

State Trustees was part of a
Government department until 1987,
when we transitioned to a statutory
corporation within the Victorian
Public Sector, before becoming a

State Trustees operates from three
locations: Head Office in Footscray,
a suburban office in Dandenong, and
a regional office in Bendigo.

State Trustees’ Products and Services
Core Services

Ancillary Services

Service Agreements

Executor Services – Deceased Estate
Administration and Executor Assist

Financial Planning

Community Services Agreement

Personal Financial Administration

Genealogy Services

HomesVic

Investment Services

VCAT Examinations Service
Agreement

Trust Administration (Inc. State
Trustees Australia Foundation –
Charitable Trust)
Power of Attorney Administration

Legal Services
Taxation Services
Funeral Fund

Will and Powers of
Attorney preparation –
consultative, retail and online
The Victorian Will Bank
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Our Strategy
Delivering Public Benefit

In the 2018 Financial Year, State
Trustees continued its strategic
purpose to provide public benefit
to Victoria by being an ever present,
trusted partner of the community.
Aligned with our constitution,
our services maximised our
contribution to the economy and
wellbeing of the State of Victoria.
The most significant initiative in the 2018 Financial Year
was State Trustees’ transformation of its pricing model.
Significant technological and process improvements
were made throughout the year which allowed us to
reduce and restructure our pricing. The new fees set State
Trustees as being highly competitive or ahead of market
in all core services.
The implementation of our strategy is underpinned by
three strategic pillars: Trust, Pride, and Value.
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Trust
Building trust by acting in clients’ best interests,
creating a consistently good experience and
ensuring we deliver on service promises.
Deliver on service promises

Innovate to improve

Our goal is to ensure that our
client service benefits the Victorian
public, meeting their needs
and expectations.

Our goal is to improve our processes
and systems, to find more effective
and efficient ways of improving the
lives of Victorians.

Pride
Building pride through a focus on internal
capabilities, with competent and engaged
employees ensuring quality service delivery.
Grow our capability

Share our story

Our goal is to strengthen our service
delivery, by developing our teams’
capabilities and ensuring our highpotential employees are nurtured.

Our goal is to provide our employees
with the opportunity to become
the organisation’s most powerful
advocates, developing a mutual
understanding of the difference that
State Trustees makes in the Victorian
community.

Value
Ensuring enterprise value and financial
sustainability through mutually beneficial
outcomes for our clients, key stakeholders and
State Trustees, while seeking opportunities to
further reduce costs for clients.
Enhance our Public Benefit
capabilities

Ensure our sustainability

Our goal is to become a sought-after
partner in the integrated service
system, broadening our potential
to improve the lives of Victorians.

Our goal is to assure State Trustees’
financial sustainability, allowing
us to continue making a difference
for Victorians both now and into
the future.
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Performance year on year
Trust
Measure

Definition

Financial year
2016

Financial year
2017

Financial year
2018

Client Net Promoter
Score (NPS)

The NPS is a world-recognised client
feedback tool used to benchmark
client advocacy.
To calculate the NPS, we take
the percentage of clients who
are promoters and subtract the
percentage who are detractors.

+27

+38

+15

Client Value Index (CVI)

The CVI is a feedback survey
that measures the satisfaction
of VCAT-appointed clients and
support networks with our services.
It was developed in consultation
with the Department of Health
and Human Services (DHHS) and
Monash University.

80%

80%

82.7%

Financial year
2016

Financial year
2017

Financial year
2018

Pride
Measure

Definition

Employee engagement

This measures both levels of
satisfaction and engagement, and
key factors that may affect these
responses.

82%

85%

82%

Employee advocacy

Advocacy measures the proportion
of employees who actively
recommend our services, and
recommend State Trustees as
a great place to work.

45%

61%

59%

Financial year
2016

Financial year
2017

Financial year
2018

$11.5m

$17.1m

$17.6m

Value

8

Measure

Definition

Earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation and
amortisation (ebitda)

EBITDA is calculated as revenue
less expenses (excluding tax,
depreciation, interest and other
comprehensive income).
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Highlights 2018

15,156
online and retail will and powers of attorney kits purchased

$3

$2.26

Administration of the State Trustees Australia
Foundation charitable trust, including granting
and distribution of $3 million

Managed $2.26 billion of client assets
under management and trusteeship

million
Over

4,482

billion

Launched HomesVic, a shared
equity pilot scheme designed
to help up to 400 first home
buyers purchase their own
home. Eligible applicants only
need to contribute 5% of the
acquisition price, with the
Government taking an equity
share of up to 25%.

Estate Beneficiaries

Over

5,000
Trust Clients

Over

673

Financial Power of
Attorney Clients

Over

11,459
Personal Financial
Administration Clients
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Chair report

In 2018, State Trustees undertook activities which focussed
on client growth and financial sustainability, maintaining
our commitment to deliver public benefit by maximising
our contribution to the economy and wellbeing of the
Victorian community. Our strategic focus has been clientcentric, ensuring we continue to act in the best interests
of our clients while providing professional financial and
legal guidance.
The most significant initiative this financial year was the
reduction of State Trustees’ fees with effect from 1 July
2018. This change reinforces our commitment to ensuring
all Victorians can access our products and services when
they need them the most. The new fee structure is an
important investment in our clients and sets State Trustees
up as highly competitive, if not ahead of the market in
all core services.
Supporting this work, State Trustees has transformed
how it is positioned to Victorians. Our flagship ‘Let’s Talk’
campaign in 2018 saw us engage with the community by
encouraging people to have an open discussion and talk
about the difficult things – whether that be the need to talk
to a partner about wills, to parents about going into aged
care, or to children about the distribution of valuable or
sentimental possessions. Together with the transformation
in our pricing model, State Trustees’ engagement with
the community will improve Victoria for the better, by
creating conversations around the safeguarding of legacy
and helping vulnerable Victorians understand and access
services that strengthen their financial security.
During the second year of the Public Benefit Strategy,
we also:
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• Launched HomesVic, a Victorian Government shared
equity scheme to help low to medium income earners
purchase their first home;
• Conducted training for client-facing employees on
‘soft skills’ such as empathy, listening and clarity in
communication;
• Provided community education in the vital services State
Trustees offers, continued our advocacy against financial
elder abuse, and fulfilled our philanthropic duties
through charitable giving.
Through what has been a challenging, yet rewarding year,
I would like to thank employees for their hard work and
dedication. I commend their resilience, professionalism and
perseverance, particularly during the periods leading to the
departure of the CEO from State Trustees shortly after the
end of the financial year. I also thank the other Directors
on the Board for their support and ongoing commitment
to working in the best interests of our clients, and their
expertise in providing value to the Victorian community.

The Honourable Professor Jennifer Acton
Chair

Acting CEO report

Over the last year, State Trustees has put public benefit at
the forefront of everything we do. Building on our three
pillars – Trust, Pride and Value, we have continued to act in
the best interests of our clients and stakeholders.
Aligned with our broader public benefit strategy to provide
value to the Victorian community, we have significantly
transformed and reduced our pricing model. From 1 July
2018, we will offer more affordable fees for many of our core
services, including Powers of Attorney and Personal Financial
Administration, and all new beneficiaries of Deceased
Estates. These changes cement our commitment to meeting
our clients’ needs whilst continuing to deliver quality services.
In September 2017, we were pleased to release our
commissioned research into financial elder abuse that, sadly,
remains a silent crime across Victoria. Through this research,
we found that there is a lack of awareness of the safeguards
available to help prevent financial elder abuse, with many
Victorians surveyed demonstrating a lack of awareness of
how to report suspected incidents. To fill these identified gaps,
State Trustees continued to raise awareness of this issue and
educate people on this under-reported crime. For World Elder
Abuse Awareness Day (15 June), we released two educational
videos in collaboration with Certified Practising Accountants
Australia and the Law Institute of Victoria. We will be releasing
a third video with Victoria Police later this year.
We continued to build relationships with our partners and
worked closely with the Victorian Civil and Administrative
Tribunal and the National Disability Insurance Agency, to
ensure we are meeting the needs of our clients. In August
2017, we launched our quarterly stakeholder newsletter to
keep our partners informed of what we have accomplished
throughout the year. We now also have a dedicated
Facebook business page which allows us to engage with

the wider Victorian community and share our great work,
including our stakeholder videos and the ‘Little Stories,
Lasting Legacies’ video series.
State Trustees was proud to administer HomesVic, a new
Victorian Government shared equity scheme designed to help
low to medium income earners purchase their first home. As
of 30 June, 250 households received approval to purchase
their first home in Victoria. This schedule is strongly aligned
with the strategic objectives of our Public Benefit Strategy.
Through the State Trustees Australia Foundation, 20 notfor-profit organisations benefited from almost $200,000
through the Grassroots Grants Program. The Foundation
was proud to continue its commitment to Beyond the Bell,
who received more than $90,000 in funding to support
young people in some of Victoria’s most disadvantaged
areas, to further their education and develop new skills.
In closing, I would like to thank our Board Chair, Jennifer
Acton and all Board Members for their guidance throughout
the year. I would also like to thank the endless enthusiasm,
expertise and support from my Executive team. It would be
remiss of me not to also acknowledge the individuals who
contribute to our success each day – our employees. Their
individual skills and dedication towards providing quality
services for our clients continues to inspire me.
I am looking forward to another year collaborating with all
the passionate individuals that make this organisation a
fantastic place to work.

Agata Jarbin
Acting CEO as at 30 June 2018
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Estate
administration
This story is a testament to the
impact we can have in the work
we do for our clients.
Steven* was a former Enduring Power of Attorney
(EPA) client of State Trustees. When Steven turned
100 years old in November 2014 it was State
Trustees who spoke at his centenary celebration.
Steven appointed State Trustees as his executor
and left his final wishes of being laid to rest with
his deceased family. To fulfil Steven’s wishes,
State Trustees made an application to DHHS to
facilitate this.
This was a lengthly process as we had to obtain
approval from the beneficiaries to exhume bodies,
but unfortunately, all beneficiaries on the maternal
and paternal side were deceased. The Estate team
is extremely proud to say that we were successful in
completing Steven’s wishes.

*Real name withheld for privacy reasons
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Trusts
A testimonial from a Trusts client:
When dealing with State Trustees to set up a Trust
for my son, I found the entire process quite easy. The
communication with my consultant was pleasant and
my calls were returned and any questions I had were
answered straight away.
Not understanding the legal terms with setting up
the Trust, everything was explained to me in a way I
could understand.
Knowing that the Trust is in good hands with people
who know what they are doing and only have my
son’s interest and future at heart, and having a consultant
who is down to earth, made me feel at ease right from the
beginning.
Ask questions and don’t be afraid to ask them twice
until you understand what is being told to you, and know
that your child’s Trust is in good hands with good people.
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Financial Planning
Each day we endeavour to deliver quality outcomes for our
clients. It’s one of our signature behaviours to be open,
factual and honest when delivering realistic client outcomes.
Our Financial Planning team work with clients from PFA,
Attorneyships, Trusts and Estates with portfolios greater
than $30,000. They view a client’s current circumstances
as well as any future income or expenses that they may
need to allow for. They also consider various rules and
legislation relating to areas such as social security, aged
care, taxation, and superannuation.
This has led to some positive outcomes throughout the
2017/18 financial year:
• Restructuring clients’ assets which led to a reduction
in total aged care fees by approximately $15,000 per
annum and increasing their Centrelink pension by
approximately $1,000 per annum.
• Recommending to sell a client’s property to pay their
lump sum aged care deposit and purchase an annuity
product which increased the client’s Centrelink pension
by approximately $3,000 per annum and reduced their
ongoing aged care fees by approximately $18,000
per annum.
• Investing clients’ funds into a superannuation account
to increase their Disability Support.
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Genealogy
Alison* was a State Trustees client who passed away
intestate, leaving behind several properties in her name,
and no direct next of kin. Our Genealogy team undertook
the difficult task of locating the next of kin to ensure her
assets were passed on to the appropriate person.
With no record of children, spouses, or surviving parents,
aunts, uncles, or cousins, we undertook searches on four
family lines, including research in Victoria, NSW, WA and SA
dating back to the mid-1800s.
Our search into the deceased’s first cousins once removed
(total of 37 great aunts and uncles) located 76 individuals.
Under the laws on intestacy, if one individual from this line
is surviving, they would be entitled to the entire estate.
Through a vigorous search into marriage and death
certificates, our Genealogy team located the next of kin and
rightful beneficiary of the estate, valued at approximately
$5 million. This inheritance has enabled the 90 year old
man to move into a comfortable nursing home as well
as provide financial support for his daughter who has
Downs Syndrome.
*Real name withheld for privacy reasons
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Financial Elder Abuse

At State Trustees, we are committed to raising awareness
of financial elder abuse by educating the public on how
to spot this abuse and encouraging them to report any
suspicious behaviour.
Aligned with our Public Benefit Strategy, we worked closely
with key stakeholders, including Certified Practising
Accountant Australia, Law Institute of Victoria, Leading Age
Services Australia, and Victoria Police to develop a series of
educational videos that focus on financial elder abuse.
The videos look at scenarios such as what accountants can
do if they suspect their clients are being financially abused,
reminding lawyers about their ethical responsibilities
under the law, highlighting the warning signs for carers to
look for when visiting patients, and the important role of
Victoria Police.

State Trustees released the findings of its research
into the prevalence of financial elder abuse in Victoria
in September 2017. The findings confirmed that the
mistreatment of elderly people is more common
than people think. One in five Victorians surveyed reported
knowing someone whom they suspect had been a victim
of financial elder abuse, and one in 25 people surveyed
reported feeling that they had personally experienced
financial elder abuse. The majority of abuse was thought to
be perpetrated by family members (78%).
The prevalence of financial elder abuse is likely to rise
as the population continues to age, along with rising
intergenerational inequality.
Amongst those surveyed, the research revealed a lack
of awareness of the safeguards that are in place to prevent
financial elder abuse, with the majority of Victorians
surveyed demonstrating a lack of awareness of how to
report suspected incidents. As a result, financial elder
abuse continues to be an under-reported crime as victims
are sometimes threatened emotionally.
We strongly believe that early intervention is the key to
making a difference for the ageing Victorian population,
and we will continue to advocate against this type of abuse.
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CONNECTED
Art Exhibition

This year we celebrated 15 years of the State Trustees’
CONNECTED Art Exhibition.
Established in 2003, the event was borne from a vision of
social inclusion and enrichment of lives and communities.
CONNECTED Art Exhibition celebrates art and culture,
showcasing the work of emerging artists with a disability or
those experiencing mental illness.
It provides a platform for new and emerging artists to
gain not only the experience of displaying work in a
professional gallery environment but also provides a
pathway to financial independence by giving them the
opportunity to sell their work.
The 2017 winners were: First prize: Caroline Carey for
‘Parrot’; Second prize for ‘Lonely Drive’; Third prize: Corey
Borg for ‘Orange Tree’; Office of the Public Advocate Prize:
Adrian Segon for ‘Adrian’s House’ and Allan Merigan
People’s Choice Award: Justine Martin for ‘Out of My Reach’.
We would like to thank our passionate staff and the
Victorian community for their continuous support of the
CONNECTED Art Exhibition. Together we have been able
to support our artists in building on from the exhibition
to achieve solo exhibitions, international recognition
and feature in state-wide publications.
Artist: Caroline Carey
Artwork: Parrot
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National Disability
Insurance Scheme

The National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) is
Australia’s new disability care scheme which gives people
living with an ongoing disability, their families and carers
the support they need to live a full life.
State Trustees administers the financial and legal affairs
of around 10,000 Victorians living with a disability. Many
of our clients already participate in the NDIS, whilst others
may become participants as the NDIS rollout progresses.
Participating in the NDIS provides our clients greater choice
about the disability services and support they can receive,
giving greater control over the quality of their lives.
As an administrator, State Trustees does not have the
authority to make personal and lifestyle decisions on a
client’s behalf as required by the NDIS planning process.
However, State Trustees’ role in assisting its clients
with participating in the NDIS is ensuring that clients
have access to the full spectrum of benefits that the
NDIS offers.
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State Trustees Australia Foundation

The State Trustees Australia
Foundation (the Foundation)
positively impacts our
community by engaging in
effective philanthropy. Through
the forethought of generous
community members who
have created a sub-fund or left
a bequest, the Foundation has
provided more than $30 million
to charities since 1994.

In 2017-18 we funded almost $1 million through the
Foundation’s granting programs, including approximately
$200,000 to successful grant applications in our Grassroots
Grant program. As the Trustee of many Private Charitable
Trusts, State Trustees also distributed about $600,000 to
charitable entities.

Protecting and empowering our elderly
Through the Foundation, the National Ageing Research
Institute (NARI) received almost $60,000 to trial a new
Elder Abuse Screening Instrument (AUSI). A Victorian-first,
this tool aims to identify cases of elder abuse. The tool will
be tested and refined through a co-design process with St
Vincent’s Hospital.
To test its effectiveness, NARI will collect data before and
after implementation of the tool on the number of elder
abuse cases identified, the number of notifications, and
the number of referrals made. Following extensive training,
hospital staff will also be tested on their knowledge and
confidence in screening for elder abuse.
State Trustees Australia Foundation is committed to funding
elder abuse prevention and response programs, and building
awareness of this important community issue.
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Preserving legacy

Wholehearted Giving

As trustee of the Foundation, State Trustees is committed to
understanding donor’s interests and preserving their legacy.
In 2017-18 the Foundation distributed an additional $2
million to more than 100 charitable organisations as guided
by donor intentions.

Wholehearted Giving is State Trustees’ workplace giving
program that encourages employees to make charitable
donations through salary deductions. The program was
revitalised at the end of the 2017/18 financial year so that
we can make an even greater social impact.

Twenty years ago, a sub-fund was created with the State
Trustees Australia Foundation through Winifred Gleeson’s
will to support the Royal Victorian Institute for the Blind
(now Vision Australia). The initial value of the sub-fund was
$1 million and with annual distributions over 20 years and
the power of perpetuity, funds provided to Vision Australia
have reached approximately $1.4 million and will continue
to grow each year to support people who are blind or have
low vision.

The new approach will combine employees’ donations
with staff volunteering opportunities and dollar-for-dollar
matching from the State Trustees Australia Foundation.
This new approach aims to inspire a more philanthropic
culture, giving employees a better sense of purpose in the
workplace and strengthening our community connections.
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Launch of HomesVic

State Trustees was pleased to be appointed the
administrator of the HomesVic shared equity scheme by
the Victorian Government which was set up to help up to
400 eligible first home buyers purchase their own home
in selected suburbs.
A broad range of metropolitan and regional areas
are included in the scheme – including 85 Melbourne
suburbs, 130 regional towns and suburbs, and seven
peri‑urban towns.
The scheme commenced as a pilot in February 2018 and
by the end of June 2018, 250 households had received
approval to purchase their first home. It has been a
rewarding experience to meet many of these first home
buyers at the information sessions we hosted and see them
realise their dream of becoming home owners in Victoria.
The delivery of HomesVic is in line with our Public Benefit
Strategy which mandates that we engage with Government
and the community to extend our influence and impact.
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Environmental Activities

State Trustees is committed to minimising the impact of
our activities on the environment, with many initiatives in
place across our offices to ensure we are an environmentally
sustainable organisation including:

The NABERS targets agreed in the lease are as follows:

• Maintaining low paper usage and waste paper recycling
systems;
• Using laser and multi-function printers/ photocopiers
with energy saving features including a cartridge
recycling program;
• Recyclable plastics, cardboard, organic food waste and
electronic waste recycling services;

Minimum
Target

Current
Performance

NABERS Energy

4.5 Star

5.0 Star

NABERS Water

5.0 Star

5.5 Star

State Trustees’ head office in Footscray is a 5 Star Green
Star building. Facilitated by the Green Building Council
of Australia (GBCA), the aim of the Green Star program is
developing a sustainable property industry for Australia by
encouraging the adoption of green building practices.

• Environmentally friendly cleaning products, suppliers
and vendors;
• A motor vehicle fleet that’s maintained regularly
comprising of 25% hybrid and 75% low emissions;
• Smart lighting and mechanical systems reducing power
consumption by shutting down when not required.
Our commitment at State Trustees continues to grow with
reducing our landfill requirements and minimising our
environmental footprint. We continue to exceed two of the
minimum NABERS targets with the ambition to improve on
this number in 2018-2019.
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Organisational Structure
Board of Directors
Chief Executive Officer

Agata Jarbin (Acting)

Executive General Manager
Client Services

Executive General Manager
People, Brand & Communications

Executive General Manager
Professional Services

Melanie Lewis

Michelle Johnston

Josie Brown (Acting)

Chief Financial Officer
Company Secretary

Sandy Chakravarty
As at 30 June 2018.
The new Chief Executive Officer commenced on 29 October 2018.
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Chief Operating Officer

Karen Jones (Acting)

Corporate Governance Statement
State Trustees is committed to
achieving and demonstrating
the highest standards of
corporate governance.
State Trustees’ core governance practices are consistent
with the Victorian Public Sector Commission. State Trustees
is a State Government owned company and operates as a
corporation, registered with the Australian Securities and
Investments Commission (ASIC). As a State Government
Business Enterprise (GBE) and the holder of an Australian
Financial Services License, the Company is required to
comply with several key pieces of legislation:

Executive
The Chief Executive Officer develops and implements
State Trustees’ operational and corporate plan and is
accountable to the State Trustees Board for expenditure,
operations and administration in accordance with State
Trustees’ strategy, policies and legal requirements. The
Chief Executive Officer and Executive team’s authority
to act is described in a formal instrument of delegated
authority, approved by the Board.

• State Owned Enterprises Act 1992;
• State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994;
• Guardianship and Administration Act 1986;
• Trustee Companies Act 1984;
• Corporations Act 2001; and
• Financial Management Act 1994.
The Victorian State Treasurer is the sole shareholder of the
Company. State Trustees reports to the Treasurer of Victoria,
through the Victorian Department of Treasury and Finance.

25

State Trustees
Annual Report 2017/18

Board of Directors

Board composition

Chair

State Trustees is governed by a
Board of Directors, appointed by
the Victorian Treasurer on behalf of
the State of Victoria. Details of the
Board members, their experience,
expertise, qualifications and
terms of office are set out in the
Board of Directors section of the
Directors’ Report.

The Chair is responsible for leading the Board, ensuring
Directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant to their
role and responsibilities, facilitating Board discussions, and
managing the Board’s relationship with the organisation’s
senior executives.

The Board’s role
The Board’s role is to provide strategic guidance within a
framework of prudent and effective controls that enables
risk to be assessed and managed.

Independent professional advice and
access to organisation information
Each Director has the right to access all relevant State
Trustees Executives, information and, subject to prior
consultation with the Chair, may seek independent
professional advice from a suitably qualified adviser at the
organisation’s expense.
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Board processes

Governance review

The full Board held 10 meetings in the year, plus strategy
and extraordinary meetings as needed to address specific
significant matters as and when they arose. When formal
Board meetings were not scheduled, Directors received
update reports from the Chief Executive Officer.

The organisation, the Board and its committees continue
to monitor governance arrangements on an ongoing basis.

The Chair, Chief Executive Officer and Company Secretary
prepare meeting agendas. Standing items include the Chief
Executive Officer’s report, updates from Board Committee
meetings, financial reports, strategic matters, governance,
risk management and compliance.

Continuing professional development
The Board has a policy on continuing professional
development to encourage its Directors to further develop
their skills and expertise through high-quality learning and
professional development opportunities.

Conflict of interest
Directors must keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis,
of any interests that might potentially conflict with those of
State Trustees. Directors are guided in this area by Boarddeveloped procedures on disclosing potential conflicts of
interest. Where the Board believes that a significant conflict
exists, the Director concerned does not receive the relevant
Board papers and is not present at the meeting while the
relevant matter is considered.
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Board Committees
The Board has established a
number of committees to help
it perform its duties and allow
detailed consideration of complex
issues. Each committee’s charter
is reviewed at least annually.

The standing Committees during the 2018 Financial
Year were:
• Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
• Investment Committee
• Remuneration Committee
• State Trustees Australia Foundation Advisory Committee
• External Stakeholder Engagement Transformation
Committee
Generally, committee structures and membership
are reviewed annually. In the case of the STAF
Advisory Committee, members who are not State
Trustees representatives are appointed for three years.
Each committee has its own written charter setting out
its roles and responsibilities, composition, structure,
membership requirements and the manner in which the
committee operates.
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Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee

Remuneration Committee

The Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee oversees the
financial reporting and corporate accounting policies and
controls and monitors the organisation’s compliance with
relevant legislative and regulatory obligations.

The Remuneration Committee makes specific
recommendations on remuneration packages and other
employment terms for the Chief Executive Officer and
other senior executives. Remuneration of executives is
determined with reference to the Government Sector
Executive Remuneration Panel (GSERP). The Committee also
makes recommendations to the Board on superannuation
arrangements and has oversight of succession planning for
key roles within State Trustees.

The Committee is responsible for approving the internal
audit program conducted each year. The internal auditors
help the Board ensure compliance with internal controls
and risk management programs by regularly reviewing how
well the compliance and control systems function.
The Auditor-General is the organisation’s official external
auditor, but he has contracted State Trustees’ external audit
to HLB Mann Judd. State Trustees outsources the internal
audit function to BDO Australia Limited.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee oversees policies and
frameworks governing client’s investable assets, the State
Trustees Investment Funds, the Corporate investment
portfolio and State Trustees Australia Foundation.

State Trustees Australia Foundation
(STAF) Advisory Committee
The role of the STAF Advisory Committee, which meets at
least once a year, is to recommend how the STAF income
should be distributed to, or benefit, eligible charitable
recipients. Grants for this purpose are generated from
income earned on donations where the donors have not
made binding directions for grants to specific charities.

External Stakeholder Engagement
Transformation Committee
The External Stakeholder Engagement Transformation
Committee was formed to assist the Board in fulfilling its
corporate governance responsibilities in relation to the
Company’s public and government relations.
The committee’s responsibility encompasses strategic
direction and evaluation on opportunities to leverage and
promote Government ownership to build a trusted and
considered brand, and the implementation and ongoing
development of the Stakeholder and Communication Plan.
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Code of conduct

State Trustees is committed to
operating ethically and has a
code of conduct setting out the
expectations of how we as an
organisation conduct our business,
and manage and treat our clients
and our colleagues. We act with
honesty and integrity at all times.
The code of conduct contains specific clauses relating to
confidentiality, email and information technology, conflict
of interest, and personal behaviour. It expressly addresses
dealing with breaches and non-compliance with the code.

Confidentiality

Employees are expected to maintain and respect the
confidentiality and privacy of clients’ and other employees’
personal and financial information.
Employees must not use or disclose any confidential
information for any unauthorised purpose, including
for personal use or to benefit a third party. An essential
part of employment arrangements is adherence to the
code of conduct.
When dealing with represented persons’ affairs, employees
must adhere to the secrecy obligations set out in section
17 of the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994.
State Trustees is also subject to other privacy obligations
that include the Privacy Act 1988, Privacy and Data
Protection Act 2014 and Health Records Act 2001.

Conflict of interest
In accordance with the code of conduct, employees are
required to take care to avoid actual or apparent conflicts
of interest between their private affairs and State Trustees’
business. Conflicts of interest are situations where an
employee has a personal interest that may influence (or even
appear to influence) the way they perform their official duties.
The code of conduct is regularly reviewed to reference
updated and emerging issues and cross reference other
policies from which conflict issues can arise.
The code of conduct is published on the intranet and all
employees are required to confirm annually that they have
read and understood it.
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Protected Disclosures
Act 2012

State Trustees is committed
to the aims and objectives of the
Protected Disclosures Act 2012.
State Trustees does not tolerate improper conduct from
its Directors, employees, contractors or service providers
at any time, nor does it tolerate the taking of reprisals
of any sort against those who come forward to disclose
improper conduct.
State Trustees’ Protected Disclosures Organisational
Guidelines are made available on the State Trustees website:
www.statetrustees.com.au.
State Trustees is not a body that can receive disclosures
of improper conduct under the Protected Disclosures Act
2012. However, State Trustees is a body in respect of which
disclosures of improper conduct can be made. A person
wanting to make a disclosure of improper conduct about
State Trustees or its Directors or employees or contractors
or service providers must do so to the Independent Broadbased Anti-corruption Commission (IBAC).

IBAC Contact Details
Phone: 1300 735 135
Fax: (03) 8635 6444
Street address: Level 1, North Tower,
459 Collins Street, Melbourne, VIC 3000
Mail: IBAC, GPO BOX 24234, Melbourne, VIC 3001
Web: www.ibac.vic.gov.au
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Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)
State Trustees is committed to
protecting the health, safety
and wellbeing of all employees,
contractors, clients and visitors.
We strive to accomplish this
through the continual development
and support of a culture that
embraces wellbeing, health and
safety as a priority.
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State Trustees’ Occupational Health & Safety management
system is in place to ensure that we are constantly
reviewing and assessing risks and, where necessary,
implementing changes to reduce risks to ensure the safety
of our people.
The State Trustees Occupational Health & Safety
Committee is one of our specific work health and
safety programs which consists of health and safety
representatives who are members of a designated work
group and have been elected and hold office in accordance
with the provisions of the Occupational Health and Safety
Act 2004. The primary responsibility of the committee
is to facilitate cooperation between management and
employees in developing and carrying out measures
designed to ensure a safe and healthy working environment.

Community Services Agreement
A Community Services Agreement
has been in place between State
Trustees and the State since 1994.
The agreement provides a reimbursement for some of the
costs of administering the legal and financial affairs for
those clients who would otherwise not have the funds to
access these services.
The Community Services Agreement applies to those
services which are statutorily nominated, including
tribunal appointed financial administration and deceased
estate administration as well as some funding for
vulnerable Victorians to access attorneyship and trust
administration services.
Some government funding is provided to State Trusteesas
part of this agreement and services are provided under
legislation that includes the State Trustees (State Owned
Company) Act 1994, Administration and Probate Act 1958,
Trustee Act 1958, and Guardianship and Administration
Act 1986.

Represented Persons
The Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal (VCAT)
appoints State Trustees as an administrator for the
legal and financial affairs of people who are deemed
unable to make reasonable judgments in respect of their
affairs due to disability or mental illness. State Trustees
administers the financial and legal affairs to approximately
11,000 represented people, managing their assets with
acumulative value in excess of $1 billion.

Subject to the Guardianship and Administration Act1986
and the administration order, an administrator:
•

Is responsible for managing the represented person’s
estate;

•

Takes possession and care of, recovers, collects,
preserves, and administers the property and estate,
and generally manages the represented person’s
financial and legal affairs; and

•

Exercises all rights relating to the estate that the
represented person might exercise if they had the
ability to do so.

In exercising such wide powers, the legislation requires
an administrator to act in the represented person’s
best interests. As administrator, State Trustees takes
into account the represented person’s wishes and tries
to encourage and help them to become capable of
administering their own estate wherever possible.

Code of Conduct
When dealing with represented persons’ affairs,employees
must adhere to the secrecy obligations set out in section 17
of the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994 and
the confidentiality requirements of the Victorian Civil and
Administrative Act 1998 (Vic).

Any person may apply to VCAT seeking the appointment of
an administrator. They may nominate a person such as a
family member, friend, accountant, solicitor, State Trustees
or a private trustee company who they consider could
undertake the role. The Public Advocate may also apply to
VCAT to appoint a guardian or administrator or to review
appointment arrangements. In cases where the applicant
does not nominate an administrator, or VCAT considers the
nominee unsuitable – for example, where there is significant
family conflict – VCAT may appoint State Trustees or
another suitable administrator.
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Australian Guardianship and
Administration Council (AGAC)
National Standards

State Trustees takes the
stewardship of clients’ affairs
seriously.
Our employees are carefully selected to ensure they are
empathetic to clients’ needs, ensuring they act in our
clients’ best interests at all times, empowering clients
towards greater independence wherever possible.
AGAC provides a national forum for State and Territory
agencies that protect adults with a decision making
disability through adult guardianship and administration.
We follow the 12 national standards as provided by
AGAC that set out minimum service levels to be provided
to individuals by a financial manager. The standards
complement legislative and other policies, principles
and practices, codes of professional conduct and ethical
behaviour, privacy and confidentiality of personal
information and records, and other requirements, which
financial managers need to meet in each State and Territory.
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The standards cover:
•

Providing the client with information;

•

Ensuring client views and involvement are taken
into consideration;

•

Advocating for the client as necessary;

•

Protecting client assets;

•

Protecting and respecting the client’s legal rights;

•

Making payments to the client and for the client;
Investing client money;

•

Making financial decisions with the client;

•

Recording client information;

•

Reviews of the client Order;

•

Respecting client privacy and confidentiality; and

•

Being professional.

Compliance and Risk Management
Risk management

Fraud control

State Trustees approach to risk management is to create
an environment in which risk management underpins
consistently good practice. To achieve this, State Trustees
has a governance structure, risk management framework
and a risk management policy.

State Trustees has a number of management systems,
processes, controls, training and procedures directed at
preventing, detecting and minimising the risk of fraud.

The risk management framework and risk management
policy is structured, transparent and built on the Risk
Management Standard AS/NZS 31000:2009. It allows State
Trustees to identify, assess and manage risk across the
company systematically and consistently. The framework
also defines reporting processes to manage exposures at an
appropriate level across the organisation.
Risk management processes are overseen by the Audit,
Risk and Compliance Committee of the Board. In reporting
to the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee, the Risk
Committee of Management which comprises key senior
managers, is responsible for the identification, assessment,
and management of risk, whilst adhering to internal risk
management policies and procedures.

The Risk Committee of Management comprising of key
senior managers, apply oversight of the management
systems and oversee the investigation of any fraud matters.
All findings and recommendations are reported to the Chief
Executive Officer and the State Trustees Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee of the Board.

Business continuity planning
State Trustees has a Business Continuity Policy that defines
its approach to the management of business disruption
and provides the minimum standard to ensure the
effective management of such risk, in order to support the
achievement of State Trustees business objectives.
Business Continuity Plans are designed to ensure that
critical processes continue if a serious unplanned event
occurs that can disrupt State Trustees.

Working with the Executive and senior management, the
risk management team supports management with the
mitigation of risks, through proactive identification and
development of controls and regular reporting to the
Board, the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and the
Executive on the status of risk across the organisation.

Compliance
State Trustees is committed to meeting high standards
of compliance and ethical conduct. Compliance at State
Trustees is overseen by the Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee of the Board, and managed through a
compliance policy, compliance program of work and a
regulatory change management framework. To help
more effectively manage financial services compliance
responsibilities, State Trustees has a management
committee titled the Australian Financial Services Licence
Committee. State Trustees has a privacy officer for the
management of privacy issues and a protected disclosures
co-ordinator, for the co-ordination of compliance with the
Victorian protected disclosures regime.
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Financial Statements
For the year ended
30 June 2018
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Contents
This financial
statement covers both
State Trustees Limited
as an individual entity
and the economic
entity consisting of
State Trustees Limited
and STL Financial
Services Limited.
State Trustees Limited is a state government owned
enterprise. Its registered office and principal place
of business:
1 McNab Avenue
Footscray, Victoria 3011
A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s
operations and its principal activities is included in the
Report of Operations on pages 38-44, which is not part of
this financial statement.
The financial statement was authorised for issue by
the Directors on 29 October 2018.
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A. Directors’ Report of Operations

State Trustees Limited’s Board
of Directors is pleased to present
the economic entity’s financial
statements as at 30 June 2018.

Mark Toohey
MAppFin, BBus (Acctg), FCA, FCPA

1. Board of Directors

Experience: Mark is the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary for ANZ Terminals Pty Limited.

Directors of State Trustees Limited in office during the
financial year were:

Committees: Chair, Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee, Member, Investment Committee and Member,
Remuneration Committee

Cressida Wall
LLB(Hons), BA(Juris)

Jennifer Acton
LLB(Hons), LLM, BEc, MEc, GAICD

Appointed: 1 December 2015

Appointed: 1 December 2015

Committees: Chair, External Stakeholder Engagement
Committee and Member, Remuneration Committee

Committees: Chair, Board and Remuneration Committee
and Member, Investment Committee
Experience: the Honourable Professor Jennifer Acton is
the Chair and a Non-Executive Director of the Company.
Jennifer is also an Adjunct Professor of Law at Monash
University, the Chair of the Port of Hastings Development
Authority and a consultant. She has previously been a
Director in the transport, water and education industries.
Sue O’Connor
B App Sci, Grad Dip Bus Mgt, FAICD
Appointed: 3 December 2013
Committees: Member, Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee and Member, Remuneration Committee
Experience: Sue has served as a Chairman, Director and
senior business leader with ASX Top 100 and global unlisted
companies and high profile statutory authorities. She
brings to the board her commercial acumen and deep
expertise in digital, cyber resilience, transformation,
financial services, utilities, audit and risk.
Pam Mitchell
B.Bus, Dip Fin Services, CA
Appointed: 3 December 2013
Committees: Chair, Investment Committee and Member,
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
Experience: Pam is a Chartered Accountant with extensive
experience in the start-up, financial planning and financial
management of superannuation funds in a range of small
and medium-size enterprises in the corporate, government
and not-for-profit sectors.
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Experience: Cressida has 15 years experience leading long
term strategy and leadership experience at senior levels in
the public and private sector.
Helen Hambling
BA, MPubPol
Appointed: 21 February 2017
Committees: Chair, State Trustees Australia Foundation
Advisory Committee and Member, External Stakeholder
Engagement Committee.
Experience: Helen has worked as a senior executive for
the Australian Government in areas including disability,
housing, homelessness, Indigenous affairs, childcare,
gambling, child protection and family services
Andrew Nicolaou
FCA, GMAID, Fellow IPAA
Appointed: 3 December 2016
Committees: Member, Audit, Risk and Compliance
Committee and Member, External Stakeholder Engagement
Committee
Experience: Andrew Nicolaou is a former Partner with PwC
and has significant experience in the Financial Services and
Government sectors. Andrew is a non-executive Director of
Grampians Wimmera Mallee Water.

Theo Theophanous
BA (Hons)

Melanie Lewis – Executive General Manager,
Client Services

Appointed: 4 April 2017

Appointed: 3 March 2014

Committees: Member, Investment Committee and Member,
External Stakeholder Engagement Committee

Resigned effective: 9 July 2018

Experience: The Honourable Theo Theophanous is a former
Victorian Government Minister, who has held a number of
senior portfolios. He brings to the Board a range of skills
in governance, accountability, strategic thinking and
negotiation.

Other Officers
Agata Jarbin – Acting Chief Executive Officer
BEc (Hons), LLB
Appointed: 24 February 2018
Resigned: 2 October 2018
Agata Jarbin was appointed Acting Chief Executive Officer
in March 2018.
Previously the Executive General Manager, Professional
Services, Agata prides herself on delivering exceptional
customer service which in turn enables the delivery of
great outcomes.
Craig Dent - Chief Executive Officer
MBA, FIML, MAICD
Appointed: 2 December 2013
Departed: 26 July 2018
Michelle Johnston – Executive General Manager People,
Brand & Communications
DipMgt, CAHRI, MCIPD
Appointed: 4 December 2013
Michelle Johnston is the Executive General Manager,
People, Brand and Communications. Michelle is a senior
executive with over 20 years’ experience – responsible for
strategically leading the promotion and protection of the
organisational brand, the development and enhancement
of products and services, and the attraction and retention
of competitive talent.

Melanie Lewis is the Executive General Manager, Client
Services. Melanie has worked at State Trustees for more
than 13 years, including her time as the organisation’s
first Regional Manager (Western region). Melanie brings
a commitment to delivering the highest possible service
to all clients and has a thorough understanding of State
Trustees’ personal financial administration, deceased estate
administration, trust administration and enduring power of
attorney administration services.
Sandhya (Sandy) Chakravarty – Chief Financial Officer
MA (Econ), MBA, CPA, GAICD
Appointed: 23 May 2017
Sandhya (Sandy) Chakravarty was appointed Acting Chief
Executive Officer on 2 October 2018.
Sandy is responsible for the financial, investment,
procurement, internal audit and risk functions of the
organisation.
Sandy has extensive senior financial and corporate services
experience across global multinationals such as BristolMyers Squibb, Ingersoll-Rand, and Boston Consulting
Group. Most recently she was the Chief Financial Officer at
Australian Red Cross.
Josie Brown – Executive General Manager,
Professional Services
MBL, AAICD
Appointed: 11 September 2017
Josie Brown is the Executive General Manager responsible
for Professional Services; including will and power of
attorney preparation, corporate and client legal, taxation,
financial planning, property, pensions and genealogy
services.
Karen Jones – Acting Chief Operating Officer
BEd, MBA
Appointed: 19 March 2018
Karen Jones was appointed Acting Chief Operating Officer
on 19 March 2018 and leads the Strategy, Information
Services and Enterprise Portfolio Management Office teams.
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A. Directors Report of Operations (cont’d)

2. Directors’ meetings

Director

Board Meeting

Audit Risk &
Compliance
Committee

Investment
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

External
Stakeholder
Engagement
STAF^
Advisory Transformation
Committee
Committee

A

H

A

H

A

H

A

H

A

H

A

H

Jennifer Acton (a)

9

9

3(f)

3(f)

5

5

2

2

0

0

2(f)

2(f)

Mark Toohey (b)

9

9

4

4

5

5

1(f)

1(f)

0

0

0

0

Pam Mitchell (c)

8

9

4

4

5

5

1(f)

1(f)

0

0

0

0

Cressida Wall (d)

9

9

0

0

0

0

2

2

0

0

2

2

Helen Hambling (e)

9

9

0

0

0

0

0

0

2

2

2

2

Sue O’Connor

9

9

4

4

0

0

2

2

0

0

0

0

Andrew Nicolaou

8

9

4

4

0

0

1(f)

1(f)

0

0

2

2

Theo Theophanous

8

9

0

0

5

5

0

0

0

0

2

2

A Number of meetings attended.
H Number of meetings held during the time the director held office exclusive of leave of absence.
a. Jennifer Acton was Chair of the Board and Chair of the Remuneration Committee.
b. Mark Toohey was Chair of the Audit and Compliance Committee.
c. Pam Mitchell was Chair of the Investment Committee.
d. Cressida Wall was Chair of the External Stakeholder Engagement Transformation Committee.
e. Helen Hambling was Chair of the STAF Advisory Committee.
f. Director is not a member of this Committee.
^ STAF stands for State Trustees Australia Foundation.
* In addition, all Directors attended other meetings with Management in the discharge of their duties.

Company Secretary
Agata Jarbin was Company Secretary of State Trustees Limited from 1 July 2017 to 25 April 2018. Sandhya Chakravarty
was appointed Company Secretary on 26 April 2018.

3. Principal activities
State Trustees Limited’s principal activities during the year were acting as trustee, executor, financial administrator,
attorney and provider of other fiduciary and agency services.
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4. Dividend
In keeping with the Victorian Government dividend policy of distributing 50% of operating profit after tax to the
shareholder, the Directors recommend a total dividend of $4.614m for the 2017/18 financial year (2016/17: $4.693m).

2017

2018
$000s

$000s

Final dividend *

4,614

4,693

Total dividends for the year

4,614

4,693

* The final 2018 dividend is not payable until approved by the shareholder. Accordingly, State Trustees Limited has not made a provision for the
dividend in the current accounts.

5. Review of operations
State Trustees’ strategy is based on achieving sustainable
surplus whilst delivering value to the community and
leveraging relationships with other government entities to
maximise public benefit.

State Trustees was also appointed the administrator of the
HomesVic shared equity scheme. The scheme is a Victorian
Government pilot initiative set up to help low to medium
income-earning Victorians buy their first home.

In financial year 2018, State Trustees worked toward being
an ever-present partner to Victorians that is trusted by the
community to deliver public benefit. As a purpose-driven
organisation, we performed functions for the public benefit
by operating the business to effectively meet the needs
of our vulnerable clientele and thereby maximising our
contribution to the economy and well being of the State
of Victoria.

Financially, we have continued to perform strongly, with
profit before tax of $12.928m (2017: $12.204m) and
profit after tax was $9.185m (2017:$9.385m). The strong
profit result reflects a year where continued investment in
developing our people and improving processes has been
delivered.

The most significant initiative in financial year 2018 was
State Trustees’ transformation of its pricing model. Pricing
for State Trustees’ products and services is informed by
our public benefit role, and balances our commitment to
the community with our requirement to deliver sustainable
financial returns. Significant technological and process
improvements were also made throughout financial year
2018 to allow us to reduce and restructure our pricing. Fees
will now be better matched to the cost and risk involved
in service delivery, reducing cross-subsidisation between
clients whilst ensuring essential service delivery. The new
fees set State Trustees as being highly competitive or
ahead of market in all core services, including investment
management. State Trustees’ profit will be reduced in
financial year 2019 and beyond, but remain financially
sustainable.
Along with the introduction of a refreshed pricing model,
State Trustees’ engagement with the community will
improve Victoria for the better, whether that be creating
conversations around the safeguarding of legacy or helping
vulnerable Victorians understand and access services that
may strengthen their financial security.

State Trustees Limited offers clients a suite of eight
managed funds for investment purposes. This suite includes
the Cash Common Funds 1 and 2, inveST Diversified Income
Fund, inveST Balanced Fund, inveST Property Fund, inveST
Australian Equity Fund, inveST International Equity Fund
and the Charitable Common Fund. The Cash Common
Funds are managed both internally and externally through
managed cash products. All other investment funds are
managed by Russell Investments, a leading provider of
investment services, on a fund of funds basis. The funds
are governed by a Board subcommittee that oversees each
fund’s investment objectives, strategic asset allocation and
risk parameters, having considered the risk profiles and
return objectives of our clients. Both Russell Investments
and the State Trustees Limited’s Investment Committee
reviews each fund’s investment strategy annually to ensure
each fund continues to meet our clients’ objectives. Clients
and corporate investments are performing well against the
benchmark.
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A. Directors Report of Operations (cont’d)

6. Significant changes in the state of affairs

9. Insurance

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs
other than those referred to in the financial statements
or attached notes.

During the financial year, State Trustees Limited paid
a premium under a contract insuring specified officers
against liability incurred in their capacity of working on the
company’s behalf. Those officers consist of the Directors
of State Trustees Limited named earlier in this report, the
Company Secretary, and other Officers of State Trustees
Limited including certain Officers whose functions include
exercising executive decision making powers of State
Trustees Limited and its related bodies corporate.

7. Matters subsequent to the end of the
financial year
The Board of State Trustees Limited terminated the
employment of Craig Dent, Chief Executive Officer, on
the 26 July 2018 for serious misconduct, following an
investigation into allegations that he had misused public
funds. State Trustees has referred the matter to the
Independent Broad-based Anticorruption Commission for
investigation.
An investigation by the Victorian Ombudsman commenced
after 30 June 2018. The investigation will examine State
Trustees’ role as the administrator of financial and legal
affairs of vulnerable people.
Agata Jarbin, Acting Chief Executive Officer resigned on 2
October 2018. Sandhya (Sandy) Chakravarty was appointed
to the role on an interim basis. The new Chief Executive
Officer commences on 29 October 2018.
There are no other circumstances which have arisen since
30 June 2018 not otherwise dealt with in this report that
have significantly affected or may significantly affect the
operations of State Trustees Limited, the results of those
operations or the state of affairs of State Trustees Limited in
subsequent financial years.

8. L ikely developments and future results
Leveraging the launch of its new pricing model in July 2018,
financial year 2019 will see State Trustees focus on client
growth and financial sustainability.
We will also focus on our external engagement capabilities
in financial year 2019. State Trustees’ ability to better
identify and respond to broader issues and opportunities
is critical to the long-term success of the organisation,
as is deepening our relationships with external partners
to better leverage our expertise on financial services and
legal, legislative and regulatory change. To complement
this external capability, we continue to invest in internal
communications and culture, ensuring that public benefit
and public affairs are at heart of what we do.

Disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount
of premium is prohibited by the confidentiality clause of
the contract of insurance. State Trustees Limited has not
provided any insurance for an auditor of State Trustees
Limited or related body corporate.

10. Reserve fund
State Trustees Limited has complied with the provisions
of the Trustee Companies Act 1984 that requires a reserve
fund to be created and set aside by authorised trustee
companies. This is reflected in the financial statements at
Note 8.4.

11. Auditors’ independence declaration
A copy of the auditors’ independence declaration, as
required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001,
is set out on page 45.

12. Rounding amounts
The amounts contained within this report and the financial
report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where
rounding is applicable) under the option available to State
Trustees Limited under ASIC CO 98/0100. State Trustees
Limited is an entity to which the Class Order applies.
This report is signed in accordance with a resolution of the
Board of Directors.

The Honourable Professor Jennifer Acton
Chair

Mark Toohey
Director
Melbourne, 29 October 2018
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B. Auditor-General’s independence declaration

Auditor-General’s Independence Declaration
To the Directors, State Trustees Limited
The Auditor-General’s independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. The Auditor-General, an
independent officer of parliament, is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which his
powers and responsibilities are to be exercised.
Under the Audit Act 1994, the Auditor-General is the auditor of each public body and for the purposes of
conducting an audit has access to all documents and property, and may report to parliament matters
which the Auditor-General considers appropriate.

Independence Declaration
As auditor for State Trustees Limited and its controlled entity for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare
that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:



no contraventions of auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to
the audit.
no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

MELBOURNE
30 October 2018

Andrew Greaves
Auditor-General
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C. Attestation for financial management compliance
with Ministerial Standing Direction 5.1.4
I Jennifer Acton, on behalf of the responsible body, certify that State Trustees Limited has complied with the applicable
Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the Financial Management Act 1994 and Instructions except for the
following Material Compliance Deficiencies:
During the entire compliance 2017-18 year the Chief Executive Officer’s Executive Assistant was able to approve expense
reimbursements and commit the organisation to contractual spend.

The Honourable Professor Jennifer Acton
Chair
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D. Comprehensive Operating Statement
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Notes

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Commissions and fees

2.1

55,002

53,337

Community Service Agreement Income

2.1

18,392

18,031

Other income

2.2

1,239

859

74,633

72,227

Consolidated Entity
Continuing Operations

Total Income
Expenses from continuing operations
Employee benefits expense

3.1.1

39,488

39,431

Depreciation and amortisation expense

4.1.1

4,658

4,846

Lease rental charges – operating leases

3.1

4,603

4,623

Audit expenses

8.8

199

180

Other expenses

3.1

12,757

10,943

Total expenses

61,705

60,023

Profit from continuing operations before income tax equivalent

12,928

12,204

3,743

2,819

9,185

9,385

44

-

-

-

44

-

9,229

9,385

Income tax equivalent expense

8.3.1

Net profit
Other economic flows - comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to net result:
Net gain / (loss) on non-financial assets (a)
Income tax equivalent (expense)
Total Other economic flows - Other comprehensive income for the
period, net of tax
Total Comprehensive Result

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
(a) ‘ Net gain/(loss) on non-financial assets’ includes unrealised and realised gains/(losses) from revaluations, impairments, and disposals of all physical
assets and intangible assets, except when these are taken through the asset revaluation surplus.
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E. Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2018

Notes

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Cash and deposits

4.3.2

16,533

7,262

Term Deposits

4.3.1

14,100

14,100

Investments in managed investments

4.3.1

17,429

17,535

Contractual Receivables

5.1

11,857

13,180

Advances to clients

5.1

2,275

2,275

Prepayments

5.3

1,983

1,743

64,177

56,094

Consolidated Entity
ASSETS
Financial Assets

Total financial assets
Non-financial assets
Property, plant, and equipment

4.1

14,316

16,469

Intangible Assets

4.2

4,964

6,742

Deferred tax assets

8.3

4,878

4,301

Total non-financial assets

24,158

27,512

Total assets

88,335

83,607

LIABILITIES
Payables

5.2

10,936

9,875

Income tax equivalent

8.3

1,570

2,864

3.1.2

7,109

6,683

Total liabilities

19,615

19,422

Net assets

68,720

64,185

Employee entitlements

EQUITY
Contributed equity

8.1

17,361

17,361

Reserves

8.4

18,478

17,333

Retained profits

32,881

29,491

Total equity

68,720

64,185

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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F. Cash Flow Statement
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Commissions and fees received

55,926

51,731

Community Service Agreement income received

18,965

17,577

1,119

637

76,010

69,945

(55,799)

(52,412)

(5,613)

(1,280)

(61,412)

(53,692)

14,598

16,253

53

-

(687)

(1,369)

Proceeds from redemption of Corporate investments

-

2,010

Payments for investment in Corporate Investments

-

(17,351)

(634)

(16,710)

Dividends paid

(4,693)

(1,570)

Net cash flows from financing activities

(4,693)

(1,570)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash held

9,271

(2,027)

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the financial year

7,262

9,289

16,533

7,262

Consolidated Entity

Notes

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts

Corporate Investment Income
Total receipts
Payments
Payments to suppliers and employees
Payments of income tax equivalent
Total payments
Net cash flows from operating activities

6.1

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment

Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

4.3.2

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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G. Statement of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2018

Contributed
Equity
$000s

Retained
Earnings
$000s

General
Reserve
Note 8.4
$000s

Total
$000s

Balance at 1 July 2016

17,361

21,928

17,080

56,369

Net Result for the year

-

9,385

-

9,385

Dividends paid to Owners

-

(1,570)

-

(1,570)

Profits transferred to / from General Reserve

-

(253)

253

-

17,361

29,491

17,333

64,184

Net Result for the year

-

9,229

-

9,229

Dividends paid to Owners

-

(4,693)

-

(4,693)

Profits transferred to / from General Reserve

-

(1,146)

1,145

-

17,361

32,881

18,478

68,720

Consolidated Entity

As at 30 June 2017

As at 30 June 2018

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements
1. About this Report

These annual financial statements represent the audited
general purpose financial reports for State Trustees Limited
for the period ended 30 June 2018. The purpose of this
report is to provide users with information about State
Trustees Limited’s stewardship of resources entrusted to it.
State Trustees Limited is a state government owned
company, which has been classified as a for profit entity.
State Trustees Limited is a company limited by shares,
incorporated and domiciled in Australia. The State of
Victoria is the sole shareholder. Its registered office and
principal place of business is:
1 McNab Avenue
Footscray, Victoria 3011
The nature of the operations and principal activities
of State Trustees Limited are described in the
Report of Operations, which does not form part of these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation
These financial statements are in Australian dollars and
the historical cost convention is used unless a different
measurement basis is specifically disclosed in the note
associated with the item measured on a different basis.

Compliance Information
The financial report is a general purpose financial
report, which has been prepared in accordance
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001,
Australian Accounting Standards (AASs) which include
interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting
Standards Board (AASB).

Principles of consolidation
These are the consolidated financial statements for State
Trustees Limited and its controlled entity collectively
referred to as the “Group”. The Statement of Financial
Position of the Parent is disclosed in Note 8.6.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all
intercompany balances and transactions, income and
expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions have been eliminated in full.
Each subsidiary is fully consolidated from the date on
which control is obtained by the Group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
out of the Group.

The accrual basis of accounting has been applied in the
preparation of these financial statements whereby assets,
liabilities, equity, income and expenses are recognised in
the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of
when cash is received or paid.
Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to
be made about financial information being presented. The
significant judgements made in the preparation of these
financial statements are disclosed in the notes where
amounts affected by those judgements are disclosed.
Estimates and associated assumptions are based on
professional judgements derived from historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand ($000) dollars
unless otherwise stated.
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

(a) New accounting standards and interpretations - not yet effective
The new accounting standards/interpretations and their impact on the entity are listed below.

Accounting Standard /
Interpretation

Effective Date

Impact on entity

AASB 9 Financial Instruments

1 January 2018

Financial Instruments are currently recognized
at fair value through the Profit & Loss (FVTPL).
State Trustees will continue to measure Financial
Instruments on this basis hence there will be no
impact on adoption of AASB9.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
[Part E Financial Instruments]

1 January 2018

The assessment has indicated that there
will be no impact on the entity.

AASB 2014-7 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 9

52

1 January 2018

The assessment has indicated that there
will be no impact on the entity.

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

1 January 2018

Based on an external analysis performed by
KPMG on all of the company’s revenue streams,
the adoption of AASB15 will have no impact
on State Trustees Limited. The company will
continue to apply its current accounting
treatment and update accounting policies.

AASB 2014-5 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB 15

1 January 2018, except
amendments to AASB
9 (Dec).

The assessment has indicated that there
will be no impact on the entity.

AASB 2015-8 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
– Effective Date of AASB 15

1 January 2018

The assessment has indicated that there
will be no impact on the entity.

AASB 2016-3 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards
– Clarifications to AASB 15

1 January 2018

The assessment has indicated that there
will be no impact on the entity.

AASB 16 Leases

1 January 2019

State Trustees Limited has three operating
leases for property rentals and is currently
working with the Department of Treasury
and Finance to assess the impact on its
Balance Sheet.

AASB 17 Insurance Contracts

1 January 2021

The assessment has indicated that there
will be no impact on the entity.

Protecting what matters.

2. Funding Delivery of Our Services
Introduction
State Trustees Ltd’s overall purpose is to help Victorians with their financial needs so they can make the most of their
opportunities. Its principal activities during the year were acting as trustee, executor, financial administrator, attorney and
provider of other fiduciary and agency services. It charges commission and fees for services provided and receives funding
from the State of Victoria under a service agreement.
Income is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the income can be reliably measured. Where applicable, amounts
disclosed as income are net of returns, allowances, duties and taxes.

2.1 Summary of Income from Delivery of Services
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

- Commissions and fees

55,002

53,337

- Community Service Agreement revenue

18,392

18,031

73,394

71,368

Consolidated Entity
INCOME
Income from Delivery of Services

Income from Delivery of services is recognised on an accruals basis when the services are provided and the following
specific recognition criteria is met :
Commissions and Fees
Commissions and fees are charged and earned pursuant to the published schedule of fees. Income is recognised on an
accruals basis when the service is provided.
Deceased Estate Capital Commission Income Accrual
Commission is accrued over the estate service period. Income is recognised on a proportionate basis, during the estate
service period based on work performed in line with the defined milestones that result in the settlement of the estate.
Our benchmarks for this are 31 weeks for a low value estate to 39 weeks for a standard/complex estate. The time taken to
administer an estate can vary due to legal or other circumstances. The fees and charges vary due to the estimates used for
estate values and commission rates through the estate service period.
Property Sales Commission Income Accrual
Commission is accrued on client properties sold but not settled at reporting date. Income is recognised on a proportionate
basis of work performed to date.
Community Service Agreement (CSA) Income
Income is received from the State of Victoria under the CSA. This income is based on State Trustees Limited providing
financial services management to the community as defined by the agreement, and is recognised on an accruals basis when
the service is provided.
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

2.2 Other Income
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

- Interest received

586

288

- Distributions from managed investments

759

349

(106)

222

1,239

859

Consolidated Entity

Notes

INCOME
Other Income

- Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value

Interest Revenue
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective interest rate. This
rate discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.
Dividends and Trust Distributions
Dividends and trust distributions are recognised when the right to receive the payment is established.
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3. The Cost of Delivering Services
Introduction
This note provides an account of the expenses incurred by State Trustees Ltd in delivery services and outputs. In Note 2, the
funds that enable the provision of services was disclosed and in this note the cost associated with the provision of services
are recorded.

3.1 Expenses Incurred in the Delivery of Services

Notes

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

3.1.1

39,488

39,431

4,603

4,623

199

180

Other operating expenses

12,757

10,943

Total Expenses

57,047

55,178

–– Corporate

5,566

4,181

–– Building and office

2,796

3,160

–– Marketing and advertising

1,262

1,210

–– Information system

2,769

2,020

305

327

59

45

12,757

10,943

Consolidated Entity
Employee benefits expense
Lease rental charges – operating leases
Audit expenses

Other operating expenses

–– Travel and motor vehicle
–– Other
Total other operating expenses

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations. It also includes
bad debts expense from transactions that are mutually agreed.
Supplies and services are recognised as an expense in the reporting period in which they are incurred. The carrying
amounts of any inventories held for distribution are expensed when the inventories are distributed.
Operating lease payments (including contingent rentals) are recognised on a straight line basis over the lease term, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern of the benefits derived from the use of the
leased asset.
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

3.1.1 Employee Benefits in the Comprehensive Operating Statement

Consolidated Entity

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Superannuation expense

3,060

2,986

57

62

(117)

458

Salaries and wages, annual leave and long service leave

36,488

35,924

Total employee benefits

39,488

39,431

Death and Disability insurance
Termination benefits

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and salaries, fringe benefits tax,
leave entitlements, termination payments and WorkCover premiums. The amount recognised in the comprehensive
operating statement in relation to superannuation is employer contributions for members of superannuation plans that
are paid or payable during the reporting period. STL contributions to superannuation have been made in accordance with
applicable legislation.
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before normal retirement date, or when an employee
accepts an offer of benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. Termination benefits are recognised when the
entity is demonstrably committed to terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal
plan without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.
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3.1.2 Employee Benefits in the Balance Sheet
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long service leave (LSL) for
services rendered to the reporting date and recorded as an expense during the period the services are delivered.

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

1,823

1,764

311

301

799

852

2,547

2,156

Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months

400

399

Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months

437

376

6,317

5,848

Employee entitlements (Long service leave)

687

724

On-costs (Long service leave)

105

111

792

835

7,109

6,683

Consolidated Entity
Current Provisions
Annual leave
Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months
Long Service Leave
Unconditional and expected to settle within 12 months
Unconditional and expected to settle after 12 months
Provisions for on-costs

Total Current Provisions for Employee entitlements
Non-current Provisions

Total Non-Current Provisions for Employee entitlements
Total Provisions for Employee entitlements
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave: Liabilities for wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits and
annual leave) are recognised as part of the employee benefit provision as current liabilities, because the entity does not have
an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.
The liability for salaries and wages are recognised in the balance sheet at remuneration rates which are current at the
reporting date. As the entity expects the liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 months of reporting date, they are
measured at undiscounted amounts.
The annual leave liability is classified as a current liability and measured at the undiscounted amount expected to be paid, as
the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.
No provision has been made for sick leave as all sick leave is non-vesting and it is not considered probable that the average
sick leave taken in the future will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future. As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense
is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as it is taken.
Employment on-costs such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are not employee benefits. They are
disclosed separately as a component of the provision for employee benefits when the employment to which they relate has
occurred.
Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability, even where the entity does not expect to settle the liability within 12
months because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement should an employee take
leave within 12 months.
The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:
• undiscounted value : if the entity expects to wholly settle within 12 months; or
• present value : if the entity does not expect to wholly settle within 12 months.
Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the
entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. This non-current LSL is measured at
present value.
Any gain or loss following revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is recognised as a transaction,
except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an
‘other economic flow’ in the net result.

3.1.3 Superannuation Contributions
Employees of State Trustees Ltd are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the entity contributes to defined
contribution plans.
Paid contribution
for the year
Consolidated Entity

$000s

Contribution outstanding
at year end

2018

2017

2018

2017

MLC Super

1,461

1,538

27

27

Other

1,539

1,395

33

27

Total

3,000

2,932

60
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Defined contribution plans
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4. Key Assets available to support Service Delivery
State Trustees Ltd controls assets and other investments that are utilised in fulfilling its objectives and conducting its
activities. They represent the resources to be utilised for delivery of its services.

4.1 Total Property, Plant and Equipment
Gross carrying amount
Consolidated Entity 2018
$000s
Leasehold
Furniture & Fittings
Computer & Office equipment
Motor Vehicles
System Development
WIP
Total

Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

14,780

14,780

(5,560)

(4,590)

9,220

10,190

3,567

3,526

(1,350)

(1,114)

2,217

2,412

10,155

9,826

(8,000)

(6,633)

2,155

3,193

380

389

(137)

(207)

243

182

1,310

1,382

(947)

(890)

363

492

118

-

-

-

118

-

30,310

29,903

(15,994)

(13,434)

14,316

16,469

Initial recognition: Items of property, plant and equipment, are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair
value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or nominal cost, the cost is its fair
value at the date of acquisition.
The cost of constructed non-financial physical assets includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour
on the project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.
The cost of a leasehold improvements is capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the remaining term of the lease or
their estimated useful lives.
Subsequent measurement: Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured at fair value less accumulated
depreciation and impairment. Fair value is determined with regard to the asset’s highest and best use (considering legal or
physical restrictions imposed on the asset).
Fair value for plant and equipment that are specialised in use (such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going
concern) is determined using the depreciated replacement cost method.

59

State Trustees
Annual Report 2017/18

H. Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

4.1.1 Depreciation, Amortisation and Impairment
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

–– Leasehold improvements

972

969

–– Furniture and fittings

235

239

1,431

1,491

79

63

2,717

2,762

183

196

1,758

1,888

1,941

2,084

4,658

4,846

Consolidated Entity
Charge for the period

–– Computer and Office equipment
–– Motor vehicles

Amortisation
–– System development
–– Intangibles

Total

All infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical assets that have finite useful
lives, are depreciated. The exceptions to this rule include items under operating leases.
Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at rates that allocate the asset’s value, less any estimated
residual value, over its estimated useful life.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the specific assets as follows:
Category

2018

2017

Leasehold improvements

Lease term

Lease term

Furniture and fittings

5-20 years

5-20 years

Computers

2-4 years

2-4 years

AV Equipment

10 years

10 years

Office equipment

5-7 years

5-7 years

Telephone system

5 years

5 years

Hardware

4 years

4 years

Software

3-7 years

3-7 years

System development (Stratis Client Database)

3 years

3 years

Motor vehicles

4 years

4 years

Intangibles

3-7 years

3-7 years

System development (non Stratis)
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The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting
period, and adjustments made where appropriate.
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.
Impairment: Non-financial assets, including items of property, plant and equipment, are tested for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. The assets concerned are tested as to whether their carrying value
exceeds their recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is
written off as an ‘other economic flow’, except to the extent that it can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount
applicable to that asset.
If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in impairment, the carrying amount shall be increased to its
recoverable amount. However this reversal should not increase the asset’s carrying amount above what would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in prior years.
The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher of depreciated replacement cost and fair value less costs
to sell. Recoverable amount for assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the higher of the present
value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs to sell.

4.1.2 Reconciliation of movements in carrying amount of Property, Plant and Equipment

Consolidated
Entity
$’000
Opening
Value

Leasehold
2018

Computer
& Office
equipment

Furniture &
Fittings

Motor
Vehicles

System
Development

WIP

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

2017

2018

10,190 11,109

2,412

2,559

3,193

3,980

182

207

492

680

-

Total

2017

2018

2017

9 16,469 18,544

Additions
at cost

-

-

40

-

334

-

149

-

-

-

118

760

641

760

Disposals
at cost

-

-

-

(471)

(7)

(18)

(158)

(46)

(73)

-

-

-

(238)

(535)

Accumulated
Depreciation
on disposals

-

-

-

471

1

15

149

46

73

-

-

-

223

532

50

-

92

-

581

-

38

-

8

-

(769)

-

-

-

-

-

-

65

126

-

-

54

-

-

-

119

126

(970)

(969)

(235)

(239) (1,431) (1,491)

(79)

(63)

(183)

(196)

-

- (2,898) (2,958)

Closing Balance 9,220 10,190 2,217 2,412 2,155 3,193

243

182

363

492

118

- 14,316 16,469

Capitalisation
of assets
Capitalisation/
Transfer of
Intangible
assets
Depreciation
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4.2 Intangible Assets
Computer software
Consolidated Entity

$000s

WIP

Total

Total

2017

2018

2017

1,685

12,975

12,490

2018

2017

2018

Opening balance

12,975

10,805

Additions at cost

-

-

-

611

-

611

Disposals at cost

-

-

-

-

-

-

94

2,150

-

(2,150)

94

-

-

20

-

(146)

-

(126)

13,069

12,975

-

-

13,069

12,975

(6,233)

(4,345)

-

-

(6,233)

(4,345)

(114)

-

-

-

(114)

-

(1,758)

(1,888)

-

-

(1,758)

(1,888)

-

-

-

-

-

-

(8,105)

(6,233)

-

-

(8,105)

(6,233)

4,964

6,742

-

-

4,964

6,742

Gross carrying amount

Capitalisation of assets
Capitalisation / Transfer of Intangible assets
Closing Balance
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Opening balance
Transfer of Accumulated Amortisation on transfer
Amortisation for the year
Accumulated amortisation on disposals
Closing Balance
Net Book Value at end of financial year

Intangible Assets
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets with finite useful lives are carried at cost
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are
capitalised when it is expected that additional future economic benefits will flow to the entity.
Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 3-7 years.
When the recognition criteria in AASB 138 Intangible Assets are met, internally generated intangible assets are recognised
and measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Impairment of Intangible Assets
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives (and intangible assets not yet available for use) are tested annually for
impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Intangible assets with finite useful lives are
tested for impairment whenever an indication of impairment is identified.
The policy in connection with testing for impairment is outlined in section 4.1.1.
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4.3 Investments and Other Financial Assets
4.3.1 Investments
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

>> Diversified income fund

13,775

14,069

>> Australian Equity Fund

3,654

3,465

Total Managed Investment Schemes

17,429

17,535

Australian currency term deposits > three months (a)

14,100

14,100

Total Current Investments and Other Financial Assets

31,529

31,635

Consolidated Entity
Current Investments and Other Financial Assets
Managed Investment Schemes - Interests in inveST Funds

Notes
(a) Term deposits under ‘Investment and other financial assets’ class include only term deposits with an original maturity of 90 days or greater.

Ageing Analysis of Investments

Carrying
amount

Not past
due and not
impaired

Past due
and not
impaired

Term deposits

14,100

14,100

-

Managed Investment Schemes

17,429

17,429

-

Total

31,529

31,529

-

Term deposits

14,100

14,100

-

Managed Investment Schemes

17,535

17,535

-

Total

31,635

31,635

-

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Cash on hand and at bank

16,533

7,262

Total Cash Assets

16,533

7,262

Consolidated Entity
$000s
2018

2017

4.3.2 Other Financial Assets - Cash and Deposits

Consolidated Entity
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5. Other Assets and Liabilities
5.1 Receivables
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Receivables

3,122

3,897

Less: Provision for doubtful debts

(396)

(445)

Accrued income

9,131

9,728

11,857

13,180

2,275

2,275

14,132

15,455

14,132

15,455

Consolidated Entity
Contractual

Total Contractual Receivables
Other receivables
Advances to clients (a)
Total Current Receivables
Represented by
Current receivables

Contractual receivables are classified as financial instruments and categorised as ‘loans and receivables’. They are
initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement they
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment.
Notes
(a) Advances to clients are subject to an approval process prior to issue and are periodically reviewed for impairment by management.
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Movement in Provision for Doubtful Debts
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Balance at beginning of year

(445)

(172)

Increase in provision recognised in the net result

(331)

(501)

380

228

(396)

(445)

Consolidated Entity

Reversal of provision of receivables written off during the year as uncollectable
Balance at end of the year

Doubtful Debts
Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on an regular basis at an operating unit level. A provision for doubtful
debts (provision for impairment) is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Group may not be able to collect
the receivable and bad debts are written off when identified.
Financial difficulties of the debtor, default payments or debts more than 60 days overdue may be considered objective
evidence of impairment.
A provision is made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of services when there is objective evidence that an
individual receivable is impaired. The increase in the provision for the year is recognised in the net result.

Ageing analysis of Contractual Receivables
Past due but not impaired

Carrying amount

Carrying
amount

Not past
due and not
impaired

Less than
1 month

1‑3 months

3 months
- 1 year

1 ‑ 5 years

2018 Consolidated

11,857

10,402

410

438

309

298

2017 Consolidated

13,180

11,713

368

373

450

276

Other balances within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. It is expected that these other
balances will be received when due. The receivables will be realised when the business finalises the relevant client files. The
majority of these relate to Deceased Estates products which are still open, but are waiting on further actions (which include
legal related issues) to be finalised with outstanding liabilities to be settled.
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5.2 Payables
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Supplies and services

520

1,409

Unearned income

663

647

Staffing costs

2,158

1,339

Other payables

7,259

6,145

10,600

9,540

336

335

10,936

9,875

10,936

9,875

Consolidated Entity
Contractual

Total Contractual Payables
Statutory
GST Payable
Total Payables
Represented by
Current payables

Payables consist of :
• Contractual payables: Trade and other payables are carried at amortised cost and due to their short term nature they are
not discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial
year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of
these goods and services.
Theses amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. No interest is charged on payables
unless States Trustees Limited is in breach of our contractual agreements.
Terms and conditions vary according to contractual agreements with that creditor.
• Statutory payables: are recognised and measured similarly to contractual payables, are not classified as financial
instruments and not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise from
contracts.
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Maturity Analysis of Contractual Payables (a)

Maturity dates
Carrying
amount

Nominal
amount

Less than
1 month

1‑3
months

3 months
- 1 year

1 ‑ 5 years

2018 Consolidated

9,937

9,937

9,937

-

-

-

2017 Consolidated

8,893

8,893

8,893

-

-

-

Carrying amount

Note:
(a) Maturity analysis is presented using the contractual undiscounted cashflows

5.3 Other Non-Financial Assets

Consolidated Entity

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

1,983

1,743

Current other assets
Prepayments

Other non-financial assets include prepayments, which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or services or
that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.

6. How we Financed our Operations
Introduction
This section provides information on the sources of finance utilised by State Trustees Limited during its operations, and
other information related to its financing activities.
This section includes disclosures of balances that are financial instruments such as cash balances. Note 7.1 provides
additional, specific financial instrument disclosures.
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6.1 Cashflow Information and Balances
Cash and Deposits
Cash and deposits recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at bank, deposits at call and those
highly liquid investments (with an original maturity of three months or less), which are held for the purpose of meeting
short term cash commitments rather than for investment purposes, and which are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash with an insignificant risk of changes in value.
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank overdrafts, which are included as
borrowings on the balance sheet.
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

16,533

7,262

16,533

7,262

Consolidated Entity

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Net result after Income Tax for the period

9,229

9,385

(44)

-

4,658

4,846

–– Provision for Doubtful Debts

(49)

273

–– Unrealised Loss/(Gain) on corporate investments

106

(222)

(1,294)

2,204

(577)

(665)

425

(131)

–– Decrease/(increase) in Trade and Other Receivables

1,322

(2,940)

–– Decrease/(increase) in Prepayments and Other Assets

(240)

(57)

–– Increase/(decrease) in Trade and Other Creditors

1,062

3,560

14,598

16,253

Cash on hand and at bank

4.3.2

Total Cash Assets

Reconciliation of Net Result for the period to Cashflow from Operating activities

Non-cash movements
–– (Gain)/loss on sale of Property, Plant & Equipment
–– Depreciation and amortisation expense

Changes in Assets and Liabilities
–– Increase/(decrease) in Income Tax Equivalent Payable
–– Decrease/(increase) in Deferred Taxes
–– Increase/(decrease) in Employee Entitlements

Net Cash Inflow from/(used in) Operating activities
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6.2 Commitments for Expenditure
Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from contracts. These
commitments are recorded below at their nominal value and inclusive of GST.
Total Commitments Payable
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

4,478

4,323

Later than one year but not later than five years

16,202

16,492

Later than five years

47,827

52,016

Total Operating Lease Commitments (inclusive of GST)

68,507

72,831

Less GST recoverable

(6,228)

(6,621)

Total Operating Lease Commitments (exclusive of GST)

62,279

66,210

Consolidated Entity
Operating Lease Commitments
Not later than one year

The operating lease commitments reflect our lease obligations for leasehold premises. This includes the Dandenong,
Bendigo and Footscray leases over the non-optional lease period. Each lease has agreed annual increases that have been
factored into the commitment and no lease is subject to market reviews in the non-optional lease period. There are no
purchase options, or escalation clauses and lease renewals are subject to mutual agreement by all parties.
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Not later than one year

355

342

Later than one year but not later than five years

741

920

Later than five years

2,280

2,457

Operating expenditure commitments

3,376

3,719

Consolidated Entity
Operating expenditure contracted for is payable as follows:

7. Risks, Contigencies and Valuation Judgements
State Trustees Limited is exposed to risk from its activities and outside factors. In addition, it is often necessary to make
judgements and estimates associated with recognition and measurement of items in the financial statements. This section
sets out financial instrument specific information, (including exposures to financial risks) as well as those items that are
contingent in nature or require a higher level of judgement to be applied, which related mainly to fair value determination.
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7.1 Financial Instruments Specific Disclosures
Introduction
Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial
liability or equity instrument of another entity.
Categories of financial instruments
The Group’s principal financial instruments are categorised as follows:
• cash and deposits
• receivables (excluding statutory receivables);
• term deposits;
• investments in managed investment schemes;
• advances to clients; and
• payables.
Loans and receivables and cash are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments that are not
quoted on an active market. These assets and liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method (and for assets, less any impairment).
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through net result are categorised as such at trade date, or if they are
classified as held for trading or designated as such upon initial recognition. Financial instrument assets are designated
at fair value through profit or loss on the basis that the financial assets form part of a group of financial assets that
are managed based on their fair values and have their performance evaluated in accordance with documented risk
management and investment strategies. Financial instruments at fair value through net result are initially measured at fair
value; attributable transaction costs are expensed as incurred. Subsequently, any changes in fair value are recognised in the
net result as other economic flows. The Group’s financial assets consist of investments in unlisted trusts which are valued at
the redemption value per unit as reported by the manager of the investments.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are initially measured
at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial instruments
are measured at amortised cost with any difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being
recognised in profit and loss over the period of the interest bearing liability, using the effective interest rate method. The
Group recognises Payables (excluding statutory payables) as liabilities in this category.
Derecognition of financial assets: Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or been transferred.
Impairment of financial assets: At the end of each reporting period, State Trustees Limited assesses whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. All financial instrument assets, except
those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to annual review for impairment.
The allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial
assets, which are not financial instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates,
averages and other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets.
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Reclassification of financial instruments: Subsequent to initial recognition and under rare circumstances, non-derivative
financial instruments assets that have not been designated at fair value through profit or loss upon recognition, may
be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category, if they are no longer held for the purpose of selling or
repurchasing in the near term.
Financial instrument assets that meet the definition of loans and receivables may be reclassified out of the fair value
through profit and loss category into the loans and receivables category, where they would have met the definition of loans
and receivables had they not been required to be classified as fair value through profit and loss. In these cases, the financial
instrument assets may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit and loss category, if there is the intention and
ability to hold them for the foreseeable future or until maturity.
Derecognition of financial liabilities: A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged, cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender
on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognised as an ‘other economic flow’ in the comprehensive operating statement.

7.1.1 Financial Instruments Categorisation (a)
Contractual
financial assets/
liabilities
designated at fair
value through
profit/loss

Contractual
financial assets
– loans and
receivables

Contractual
financial
liabilities at
amortised cost

Total
$000s

Cash and deposits

-

16,533

-

16,533

Receivables

-

11,857

-

11,857

Advances to clients

-

2,275

-

2,275

Term Deposits

-

14,100

-

14,100

> Diversified Income

13,775

-

-

13,775

> Australian Equity

3,654

-

-

3,654

17,429

44,765

-

62,194

Accounts payable

-

-

9,937

9,937

Total Contractual Financial Liabilities

-

-

9,937

9,937

Consolidated Entity
2018
Contractual Financial assets

Interests in inveST Funds

Total Contractual Financial Assets
Contractual Financial Liabilities
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7.1.1 Financial Instruments Categorisation (a) (cont’d)
Consolidated Entity
2017
Contractual Financial Assets
Cash and deposits

-

7,262

-

7,262

Receivables

-

13,180

-

13,180

Advances to clients

-

2,275

-

2,275

Term Deposits

-

14,100

-

14,100

> Diversified Income

14,069

-

-

14,069

> Australian Equity

3,465

-

-

3,465

17,535

36,817

-

54,352

Accounts payable

-

-

8,893

8,893

Total Contractual Financial Liabilities

-

-

8,893

8,893

Interests in inveST Funds

Total Contractual Financial Assets
Contractual Financial Liabilities

Note:
(a) The total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts (e.g. GST input tax credit recoverable and taxes payable).
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7.1.2 Financial Instruments - Net Holding Gain / (Loss) by Category

Net holding
gain / (loss)

Total interest
income /
(expense)

Fee income /
(expense)

Impairment
Loss

Total
$000s

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit/loss

653

-

-

-

653

Financial assets – loans and receivables

-

586

-

-

586

653

586

-

-

1,239

Financial assets designated at fair value
through profit/loss

571

-

-

-

571

Financial assets – loans and receivables

-

288

-

-

288

571

288

-

-

859

Consolidated Entity
2018
Contractual Financial Assets

Total Contractual Financial Assets
2017
Contractual Financial Assets

Total Contractual Financial Assets

[Note: Amounts disclosed in this table exclude holding gains and losses related to statutory financial assets and liabilities.]

The net holding gains or losses disclosed above are determined as follows:
• for cash and cash equivalents, loans or receivables and available-for-sale financial assets, the net gain or loss is
calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the asset, the interest income, minus any impairment recognised
in the net result; and
• for financial asset and liabilities that are held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, the net gain or
loss is calculated by taking the movement in the fair value of the financial asset or liability.
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7.1.3 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Financial risks

Credit risk

Liquidity risk

Market risk

Interest rate risk
Foreign currency risk
Equity price risk

As a whole, the Group’s financial risk management program seeks to manage these risks and the associated volatility of its
financial performance.
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of
measurement, and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset,
financial liability and equity instrument above are disclosed in Note 7.3 to the financial statements.
The financial instruments’ main purpose is to generate a return on the Group’s investments.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk, market risk, and liquidity and
cash flow risk. These risks are measured using a method that reflects the expected impact on the results from reasonably
possible changes in the relevant risk variables. Information about these risk exposures at the reporting date, measured
on this basis, is disclosed below. Information about the total fair value of financial instruments exposed to risk, as well as
compliance with established investment mandate limits, is also monitored by Management and the Investment Committee
and reported on a monthly basis.
Financial Instruments: Credit Risk
The Group’s credit risk involves counterparties’ failure to perform contractual obligations that will cause the Group to incur
financial losses. Concentrations of credit risk are minimised primarily by ensuring:
• Transactions are undertaken with a diverse range of counterparties, a large amount with the Victorian Department of
Human Services;
• A majority of transactions are undertaken with clients under our administration.
In addition, receivables balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that exposure to bad debts has not been
significant. There is no material exposure to a group of counterparties that is expected to be affected similarly by changes
in economic or other conditions. The carrying amount of financial assets that is recorded in the financial statements
represents the maximum exposure to credit risk.
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Financial Instruments: Liquidity and Cash Flow Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk in either realising assets or otherwise raising sufficient funds to satisfy commitments associated
with the Group’s operations. Cash flow risk relates to the fluctuations in future cash flows from holding financial
instruments. Risk management guidelines adopted that are designed to minimise liquidity and cash flow risk are:
•

Ensuring substantial cash reserves are held by the entity with major Australian banks;

• Ensuring there is no significant exposure to illiquid or thinly-traded financial instruments;
• Applying limits to ensure that there is no concentration of liquidity risk to a particular counterparty or market.
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is deemed insignificant based on prior periods’ data and current assessment of risk.
Financial instruments: Market Risk
The Group’s exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk and equity price risk. Market risk is the risk
that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as
interest rates, foreign exchange rates, and equity prices. Market risk is managed and monitored using sensitivity analysis,
and minimised through ensuring that all investment activities are undertaken in accordance with established mandate
limits and investment strategies. This risk exposure is managed by diversifying investments and managing to a conservative
asset allocation model. Financial investments in growth assets (exposure to listed domestic equities through investment in
managed investment schemes) are 15% and financial investments in defensive assets (exposure to cash and fixed interest
through investments in managed investment schemes and cash deposits with financial institutions) are 85%. State Trustees
Limited is indirectly exposed to market risk by holding units in the inveST Funds. The performance of the inveST Funds
due to market risk can impact upon the distributions received from our unit holdings, the underlying value of these unit
holdings as well as the fees earned from State Trustees Limited being the responsible entity of the funds.
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to
changes in foreign exchange rates. There is no significant direct foreign exchange risk exposure to the Group.
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as a result of changes in market prices, whether those
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual stock or broader economic factors affecting equity markets as a
whole. Equity price risk exposure arises from the Group’s investment in Managed Investment Schemes.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cashflows or the fair values of
financial instruments. The Group has established limits on investments in interest bearing assets, which are monitored
weekly. The Group’s exposure to interest rates is limited to cash and short term deposits as disclosed in Note 4.3.2. The
Group has no borrowings.
Maturity Analysis of Financial Assets and Liabilities based on Management’s Expectations
To monitor existing financial assets and liabilities as well as to enable an effective controlling of future risks, State Trustees
Limited monitors risk through reporting that reflects expectations of future settlement of financial assets and liabilities.
The risk implied from the values shown in the table below, reflects a balanced view of cash inflows and outflows.
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7.1.3 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (cont’d)
<1
months
$000s

1-3
months
$000s

3-12
months
$000s

1-5
years
$000s

>5
years
$000s

Total
$000s

Cash and deposits

16,533

-

-

-

-

16,533

Receivables

11,857

-

-

-

-

11,857

-

-

-

-

2,275

2,275

2,500

4,750

6,850

-

-

14,100

>> Diversified Income

13,775

-

-

-

-

13,775

>> Australian Equity

3,654

-

-

-

-

3,654

48,319

4,750

6,850

-

2,275

62,194

Accounts payable (contractual)

9,937

-

-

-

-

9,937

Total financial liabilities

9,937

-

-

-

-

9,937

7,262

-

-

-

-

7,262

13,180

-

-

-

-

13,180

-

-

-

-

2,275

2,275

1,000

4,250

8,850

-

-

14,100

>> Diversified income

14,069

-

-

-

-

14,069

>> Australian equity

3,465

-

-

-

-

3,465

38,976

4,250

8,850

-

2,275

54,351

Accounts payable (contractual)

8,893

-

-

-

-

8,893

Total financial liabilities

8,893

-

-

-

-

8,893

Consolidated Entity
2018
Financial assets

Advances to clients
Term Deposits
Interests in inveST Funds

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities

2017
Financial assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables
Advances to clients
Term Deposits
Interests in inveST Funds

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
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7.1.3 Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (cont’d)
Interest Rate Risk
Sensitivity Disclosure Analysis and Assumptions
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities that are exposed to interest rates and the Group’s
sensitivity to interest rate risk are set out in the table that follows.
Interest rate exposure of financial instruments
Interest Rate Exposure
Weighted
Average
Interest
Rate %

Carrying
Amount
$000s

Fixed
Interest
Rate
$000s

Variable
Interest
Rate
$000s

NonInterest
Bearing
$000s

1.70%

16,533

-

16,533

-

Nil

11,857

-

-

11,857

Advances to clients

2.44%

2,275

-

2,275

-

Term Deposits

2.49%

14,100

14,100

-

-

>> Diversified Income

Nil

13,775

-

-

13,775

>> Australian Equity

Nil

3,654

-

-

3,654

62,194

14,100

18,808

29,286

9,937

-

-

9,937

9,937

-

-

9,937

1.70%

7,262

-

7,262

-

Nil

13,180

-

-

13,180

Advances to clients

2.49%

2,275

-

2,275

-

Term Deposits

2.38%

14,100

14,100

-

-

>> Diversified Income

Nil

14,069

-

-

14,069

>> Australian Equity

Nil

3,465

-

-

3,465

54,352

14,100

9,537

30,714

8,893

-

-

8,893

8,893

-

-

8,893

Consolidated Entity
2018
Financial Assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables

Interests in inveST Funds

Total Financial Assets
Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable (contractual)

Nil

Total Financial Liabilities
Consolidated Entity 2017
Financial Assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables

Interests in inveST Funds

Total Financial Assets
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable (contractual)
Total Financial Liabilities

Nil
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Interest Rate Risk Sensitivity
- 100 basis points

+ 100 basis points

Carrying
Amount

Net
Result

Available –
for – sale
revaluation
surplus

Cash and deposits

16,533

(165)

-

165

-

Advances to clients

2,275

(23)

-

23

-

18,808

(188)

-

188

-

$’000
Consolidated Entity 2018

Net
Result

Available –
for – sale
revaluation
surplus

Contractual Financial Assets

Total Impact
Consolidated Entity 2017

- 100 basis points

+ 100 basis points

Contractual Financial Assets
Cash and deposits

7,262

(73)

-

73

-

Advances to clients

2,275

(23)

-

23

-

Total Impact

9,537

(95)

-

95

-

The amounts above are before the impact of income tax.

7.2 Contingent Assets and Liabilities
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet but are disclosed and, if quantifiable,
are measured at nominal value. Contingent assets and liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable
respectively.
Contingent assets: Nil (2017: Nil)
Contingent liabilities: Nil (2017: Nil)
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7.3 Fair Value Determination
Sigificant Judgement: Fair Value measurements of Assets and Liabilities
Fair value determination requires judgement and the use of assumptions. This section discloses the most significant
assumptions used in determining fair values. Changes to assumptions could have a material impact on the Group’s results
and financial position.
This section sets out information on how the Group determined fair value for financial reporting purposes. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.
The following assets and liabilities are carried at fair value:
• financial assets and liabilities at fair value through operating result;
• available-for-sale financial assets; and
• land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment.
In addition, the fair values of other assets and liabilities that are carried at amortised cost, also need to be determined for
disclosure purposes.
The Group determines the policies and procedures for determining fair values for both financial and non-financial assets
and liabilities as required.

Fair Value Hierarchy
In determining fair values a number of inputs are used. To increase consistency and comparability in the financial
statements, these inputs are categorised into three levels, also known as the fair value hierarchy. The levels are as follows:
• Level 1 : Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
• Level 2 : Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly
or indirectly observable; and
• Level 3 : Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable.
The Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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7.3.1 Fair Value Determination of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The table below shows that the fair values of most of the contractual financial assets and liabilities are the same as the
carrying amounts.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
Carrying
Amount
2018
$000s

Fair
Value
2018
$000s

Carrying
Amount
2017
$000s

Fair
Value
2017
$000s

Cash and deposits

16,533

16,533

7,262

7,262

Receivables

11,857

11,857

13,180

13,180

2,275

2,275

2,275

2,275

14,100

14,100

14,100

14,100

>> Diversified Income

13,775

13,775

14,069

14,069

>> Australian Equity

3,654

3,654

3,465

3,465

62,194

62,194

54,352

54,352

Accounts payable (contractual)

9,937

9,937

8,893

8,893

Total financial liabilities

9,937

9,937

8,893

8,893

Consolidated Entity
Financial assets

Advances to clients
Term Deposits
Interests in inveST Funds

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
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7.3.1 Fair Value Determination of Financial Assets and Liabilities (cont’d)
Fair Value of Financial Instruments Valued at Fair Value
Carrying
Amount
$000s

Level 1
$000s

Level 2
$000s

Level 3
$000s

>> Diversified Income

13,775

-

13,775

-

>> Australian Equity

3,654

-

3,654

-

17,429

-

17,429

-

>> Diversified Income

14,069

-

14,069

-

>> Australian Equity

3,465

-

3,465

-

17,536

-

17,535

-

Consolidated Entity
2018
Financial Assets
Interests in inveST Funds

Total Financial Assets
Notes:

There were no significant transfers between level 1 and level 2.

2017
Financial Assets
Interests in inveST Funds

Total Financial Assets

Notes:
There were no significant transfers between level 1 and level 2.
The fair value of investments in unlisted unit trusts has been determined by reference to quoted redemption prices as
reported by the manager of these investments.
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8. Other Disclosures
Introduction
This section includes additional material disclosures required by accounting standards or otherwise, for the understanding
of this financial report.
Structure
8.1

Contributed Equity

8.2

Client assets under management

8.3

Income Tax expense, assets and liabilities
8.3.1 Income Tax equivalent expense
8.3.2 Income Tax deferred assets and liabilities

8.4

Reserves

8.5

Controlled entities

8.6

Parent Entity Information – State Trustees Limited

8.7

Economic dependency

8.8

Remuneration of auditors

8.9

Other Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions
8.9.1 Bonus provision
8.9.2 Determination of Control over other entities
8.9.3 Compliance with International Finance Reporting Standards

8.10 Responsible persons
8.11 Remuneration of executives
8.12 Related party disclosures
8.13 Workforce Data Disclosure
8.14 Advertising expenditure
8.15 Information and Communication Technology (ICT) expenditure
8.16 Consultancy expenditure
8.17 Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
8.18 Statement of operations by segments
8.19 Registered office
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8.1 Contributed Equity

Consolidated Entity

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

12,462

12,462

4,899

4,899

17,361

17,361

Share capital
Ordinary shares
(12,461,664 fully paid shares, 2017: 12,461,664)
Contribution from Owners
Total Share Capital

The entity has only one shareholder, the State of Victoria, which owns all the ordinary shares. This entitles the holder to
receive dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company that is in proportion to the number of, and amounts paid
on, the shares held.
Ordinary shares of State Trustees Limited are classified as equity, government contribution received/receivable for which
the Department of Treasury and Finance made a specific designation as contribution from owners and are treated as capital
contribution, without the issuing of shares.

8.2 Client Assets Under Management
Total client assets under management and trusteeship were as follows. These amounts are not reflected in the Statement
of Financial Position as they are held in trust on behalf of the entities’ clients.
The client assets under management and trusteeship increased over the year due to an increase in clients’ net applications
and upwards market movements.

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Investments, real estate, personal, and other assets

1,056,709

1,035,071

Client investments in Common Funds

1,203,871

1,062,308

Total Assets under Management and Trusteeship

2,260,580

2,097,379

Consolidated Entity
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8.3 Income Tax Expense, Assets and Liabilities
The Group’s accounting policy for taxation requires management’s judgment as to the types of arrangements considered to
be a tax on income in contrast to an operating cost. Judgment is also required in assessing whether deferred tax assets and
certain deferred tax liabilities are recognised on the Statement of Financial Position. Deferred tax assets, including those
arising from tax losses, capital losses and temporary differences are recognised only where it is considered more likely than
not that they will be recovered, which is dependent on the generation of sufficient future taxable profits.
Income Tax Equivalent
State Trustees Limited is a state government owned company listed on the register of the National Tax Equivalent Regime.
As such, it is required to account for its taxation liabilities in accordance with the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, and the
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 as required.
It pays tax as calculated in accordance with the respective taxation legislation to the Victorian Government
Consolidated Fund.
Tax Consolidation
State Trustees Limited has formed an income tax consolidated group consisting of State Trustees Limited and STL Financial
Services Limited. State Trustees Limited is the head entity of the tax consolidated group.
The entities within the tax consolidated group have entered into a tax funding arrangement and a tax- sharing agreement
with the head entity. Under the terms of the tax funding arrangement, STL Financial Services Limited has agreed to pay/
receive a tax equivalent payment to or from State Trustees Limited based on the current tax asset or liability of the entity.
Such amounts are reflected in amounts receivable from or payable to the other entity in the tax consolidated group.
The tax sharing agreement entered into between the members of the tax consolidated group provides for the
determination of the allocation of income tax liabilities between the entities should State Trustees Limited default on its
tax payment obligations. No amounts have been recognised in the financial statements in respect of this agreement as
payment of any amounts under the tax sharing agreement is considered remote.

Consolidated Entity

Notes

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

8.3.1

3,743

2,819

8.3.2

4,967

4,356

8.3.2

1,570

2,864

8.3.2

89

55

Income Tax in the Comprehensive Operating Statement
Income Tax Expense
Income Tax in the Balance Sheet
Non-current Assets
Deferred Tax Assets
Current Liabilities
Income Tax equivalent
Non-current Liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
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8.3.1 Income Tax Equivalent Expense
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Profit/(loss) before tax

12,972

12,204

Prima facie tax at 30%

3,892

3,661

(22)

(13)

4

7

(7)

3

577

666

–– Adjustment on prior year

(701)

(1,505)

Total Income Tax Expense attributable to Operating Profit

3,743

2,819

4,405

4,353

577

666

(1,239)

(2,200)

3,743

2,819

Consolidated Entity

Tax effect of non-temporary differences:
–– Imputation Credits and Other
–– Entertainment
–– Depreciation
–– Adjustment to deferred tax assets/liabilities

Total Income Tax Expense comprises movements in:
–– Current tax expense
–– Deferred tax expense
–– Other adjustments
Total Movements for the period

8.3.2 Income Tax Deferred Assets and Liabilities
Deferred Tax Assets/Liabilities

The calculation of deferred tax assets/liabilities are measured in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 112. As such,
State Trustees Limited accounts for the tax consequences of transactions and other events in the same way that it accounts
for the transactions and other events themselves. Thus, for transactions recognised in the Comprehensive Operating
Statement, related tax effects are also recognised in the result. For transactions and other events recognised directly in
equity, any related tax effects are also recognised in equity.
A deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability will be recognised for all temporary differences that arise for the difference
between the carrying value of the asset or liability and its tax value.
Deferred tax assets are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future periods in respect of deductible temporary
differences, the carry forward of unused tax losses and the carry forward of unused tax credits. A deferred tax asset shall
be recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future
profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised.

85

State Trustees
Annual Report 2017/18

H. Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

Taxable and Deductible Temporary Differences arise from the following:

Opening
Balance
$000s

Charged
to income
$000s

Charged
to Equity
$000s

Closing
Balance
$000s

133

(14)

-

119

2,352

364

-

2,716

651

87

-

738

56

(4)

-

52

1,129

207

-

1,336

36

(30)

-

6

4,357

610

-

4,967

–– Unrealised gains on investments

(19)

(39)

-

(58)

–– FBT

(29)

2

-

(27)

(7)

3

-

(4)

(55)

(34)

-

(89)

Opening
Balance
$000s

Charged
to income
$000s

Charged
to Equity
$000s

Closing
Balance
$000s

52

81

-

133

2,381

(29)

-

2,352

312

339

-

651

58

(3)

-

55

911

218

-

1,129

-

36

-

36

3,714

642

-

4,356

–– Unrealised gains on investments

(14)

(5)

-

(19)

–– FBT

(34)

5

-

(29)

–– Fixed Assets (General)

(29)

22

-

(7)

(77)

22

-

(55)

Consolidated Entity
2018
Gross Deferred Tax Assets
–– Provision for doubtful debts
–– Provision for employee entitlements
–– Provision for accrued expenses
–– Accrued audit fees
–– Accrued Lease expenses
–– Unrealised losses on investments

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities

–– Fixed Assets (General)

Consolidated Entity
2017
Gross Deferred Tax Assets
–– Provision for doubtful debts
–– Provision for employee entitlements
–– Provision for accrued expenses
–– Accrued audit fees
–– Accrued Lease expenses
–– Unrealised losses on investments

Gross Deferred Tax Liabilities
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8.4 Reserves
Reserve Fund
(Trustee
Companies Act)
$000s

General Reserve
(ASIC / RG166
Requirements)
$000s

Total
$000s

10,487

6,846

17,333

816

329

1,145

11,303

7,175

18,478

2017

$000s

$000s

$000s

Opening Balance at start of financial year

9,615

7,465

17,080

872

(619)

253

10,487

6,846

17,333

Consolidated Entity
2018
Opening Balance at start of financial year
Profits transferred to/from Reserves
Closing Balance at the end of the financial year

Profits transferred to/from Reserves
Closing Balance at the end of the financial year

Reserve Fund (Trustee Companies Act) ($11,303)

Under the Trustee Companies Act 1984 (the Act), a reserve fund of not less than half of one per cent of the value of
company-managed trust estates in Victoria must be provided. In the event that a liquidator, receiver or manager is
appointed, reserve fund monies are to be paid from the trustee company according to Section 39(3) of the Act. Section 38
of the Act requires State Trustees Limited to place assets into a reserve fund. These assets must be managed consistent
with requirements of the Trustee Act 1958.
On 30 June 1999, in keeping with legislation amending the State Trustees (State Owned Company) Act 1994, the corpus
amounts held by Common Funds managed by the parent entity were paid to State Trustees Limited, with transfer of $816k
from Retained Profits in 2018 (2017: transfer of $872k from Retained Profits).
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

Cash at bank and on hand

16,533

7,262

Term deposits at call

14,100

14,100

Total Assets comprising the Reserve Fund – Trustee Companies Act

30,633

21,362

Reserve fund requirements

11,303

10,487

Surplus

19,330

10,875

Consolidated Entity
Assets comprising the Reserve Fund – Trustee Companies Act
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General Reserve – ASIC / RG166
State Trustees Limited has various financial requirements imposed by the Australian Securities and Investment Commission
(ASIC) in relation to our Australian Financial Services Licence.
This reserve was created during 2013/14 with the transfer of $7.879m from Retained Profits.
State Trustees Limited has established a reserve account to isolate our ASIC regulatory requirements. These financial
requirements are:
• Net tangible assets;
• Surplus liquid funds;
• Adjusted surplus liquid funds; and
• A buffer for the adjusted surplus liquid funds.
As at 30 June we are compliant with our Australian Financial Services Licence financial requirements.

8.5 Controlled Entities
The consolidated financial statements at 30 June 2018 include the following controlled entities. The financial year of the
controlled entities is the same as that of the parent entity.

Place of
incorporation

Type
of shares

Controlled entity
STL Financial
Services Limited

Australia

Ordinary

Book value of parent
entity’s investment in $
2018

2017

5.2m

5.2m

% of
shares held
2018
100

2017
100

Contribution to
the results in
$000s
2018
287

2017
184

STL Financial Services Limited has $5.2 million of paid up capital which has historically supported the Australian Financial
Services Licence requirements in respect of minimum net tangible assets.
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8.6 Parent Entity Information – State Trustees Limited

Information relating to State Trustees Limited:

2018
$’000s

2017
$’000s

Current assets

53,899

48,365

Non-current assets

31,719

32,762

Total assets

85,618

81,127

Current liabilities

18,780

18,492

824

871

Total liabilities

19,604

19,363

Issued capital

17,361

17,361

Retained earnings

30,175

27,071

General reserve

18,478

17,333

Total shareholders’ equity

66,014

61,765

Profit or loss of the parent entity

8,941

9,201

Total comprehensive income of the parent entity

8,941

9,201

Non-current liabilities

State Trustees Limited (parent entity) has entered into operating lease commitments and operating expenditure
commitments as disclosed in Note 6.2 of these financial statements.
The parent entity’s contingent liability are disclosed in note 7.2.
No Guarantee was provided by the parent entity.

8.7 Economic Dependency
A significant portion of revenue is received from the State of Victoria via the Community Service Agreement. A five year
agreement was agreed and signed by both parties until 30 June 2022. This contract is between State Trustees Limited and
the Department of Human Services (refer to the Statement of Comprehensive Income).
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8.8 Remuneration of Auditors
2018
$000s

2017
$000s

–– Audit or review of the financial statements

199

180

Total remuneration (exclusive of GST)*

199

180

Consolidated Entity

The audit fees include all fees paid (or due to be paid) to the auditor, Victorian Auditor General’s Office (VAGO), of the
parent entity and its controlled entities.
The audit fees are paid to Victorian Auditor General’s Office (VAGO) for the parent entity and its controlled entities. The
estimate provided by VAGO is $177,600 for year ended 30 June 2018 (2017: $173,300).
The audit fees for VAGO for auditing the Common Funds and inveST Funds where State Trustees Limited acts as trustee and
responsible entity was $120,300 (2017: $117,300). These fees are in addition to the above.
The audit fees for VAGO for auditing State Trustees Australia Foundation and State Trustees Australia Foundation Open
Fund where State Trustees Limited acts as trustee was $21,100 (2017: $20,550).

8.9 Other Significant Accounting Judgments, Estimates and Assumptions
8.9.1 Bonus Provision
Bonus Provision
The calculation of the bonus provision is comprised of three components:
Executive contracts;
Remuneration and benefit entitlements; and
In line with conditions outlined in the Enterprise Agreement 2014.
Management bases its judgments and estimates on:
Historical experience;
Current financial and non-financial performance; and
Other various factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Bonus payments are subject to final approval by the Board of Directors. Refer to Note 8.11
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8.9.2 Determination of Control over Other Entities
These financial statements are Consolidated Financial statements incorporating STL Financial Services Limited as a
controlled entity. In determining whether State Trustees Limited has control over another entity as defined in AASB10,
consideration has been given to the following:
• power over the other entity;
• exposure, or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the other entity; and
• the ability to use its power over the other entity to affect the quantity of returns it receives from that other entity.

8.9.3 Compliance with International Finance Reporting Standards
The financial report complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board.

8.10 Responsible Persons
Responsible Portfolio Minister
The following person held the position of Responsible Portfolio Minister for the reporting period:
Treasurer of Victoria - The Hon. Timothy Pallas
1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Directors and Chief Executive Officer
The following persons held the position of a director or chief executive officer during the reporting period:
Jennifer Acton

Director (Chair)

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Pam Mitchell

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Sue O’Connor

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Mark Toohey

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Cressida Wall

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Andrew Nicolaou

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Helen Hambling

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Theo Theophanous

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Agata Jarbin

Acting Chief Executive Officer

24 February 2018 to 30 June 2018

Craig Dent *

Chief Executive Officer

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018
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Total remuneration received or receivable by responsible persons during the reporting period is disclosed in the table below:
2018
No.

2017
No.

$0 - $9,999

-

2

$10,000 - $19,999

-

2

$20,000 - $29,999

-

1

$30,000 - $39,999

-

-

$40,000 - $49,999

7

4

$50,000 - $59,999

-

-

$60,000 - $69,999

-

-

$70,000 - $79,999

1

1

$80,000 - $109,000

1

-

$430,000 - $439,999

1

1

10

11

$905

$737

Income Band

Total number
Total remuneration paid or payable ($’000)

* Craig Dent was on extended leave from 23 February 2018 pending investigation. The Board of State Trusted Limited terminated his
employment as of 26 July 2018.

8.11 Remuneration of Executives
The number of executive officers, other than ministers and directors, and their total remuneration during the reporting
period are shown in the table below. Total annualised employee equivalents provides a measure of full time equivalent
executive officers over the reporting period.
Remuneration comprises employee benefits in all forms of consideration paid, payable or provided by the entity, or on
behalf of the entity, in exchange for services rendered, and is disclosed in the following categories.
Short-term employee benefits include amounts such as wages, salaries, annual leave or sick leave that are usually paid or
payable on a regular basis, as well as non-monetary benefits such as allowances and free or subsidised goods or services.
Post-employment benefits include pensions and other retirement benefits paid or payable on a discrete basis when
employment has ceased.
Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The principles underlying our remuneration policies are outlined in the Corporate Governance Statement. Remuneration
is based on the Government Sector Executive Remuneration Panel (GSERP) framework. This is structured as a total
employment cost package, delivered as a mix of cash and prescribed non- financial benefits at the executives’ discretion.
Executives receive no more than 80% of the Chief Executive Officer’s base salary (as determined by GSERP). In addition,
they are offered short-term incentives to the maximum of 20% of total base remuneration.
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Remuneration of Executive Officers
(included in Key Management Personnel)

2018
$’000

2017
$’000

Short-term employee benefits

1,568

1,643

131

130

1,699

1,773

7

6

5.9

5.5

Post-employment benefits
Total Remuneration
Total number of KMP’s
Total annualised employee equivalents (AEE)

8.12 Related Party Disclosures
The State of Victoria is the sole shareholder of State Trustees Limited.
STL Financial Services Limited is owned and controlled by State Trustees Limited. STL Financial Services Limited has been
consolidated into the financial statements of State Trustees Limited.
State Trustees Limited is the responsible entity of the inveST funds and Common funds.
State Trustees Limited is the Trustee for the Australia Foundation and the Australia Foundation Open Fund.
Related parties of State Trustees Limited include:
• all key management personnel and their close family members and personal business interests (controlled entities, joint
ventures and entities they have significant influence over;
• all departments and public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole of state consolidated
financial statements.
All transactions with related parties are conducted on commercial terms and conditions.
Significant transactions with Government Related Entities
• State Trustees Limited receives income from the State of Victoria under the Community Services Agreement for the
provision of financial management services to the community. During the 2018 year State Trustees Limited earned
$18.392 million under this agreement (2017 $18.031m). Refer Note 2.1.
• During the 2018 year, State Trustees Limited paid dividends of $4.693 million to the State of Victoria as shareholder
(2017 $1.57 million).
• State Trustees Limited received $1.274 million from the Victorian Government to launch the HomesVic shared equity
scheme. The scheme assists low to medium income-earning Victorians buy their first home.
Key management personnel of State Trustees Limited include the Portfolio Minister, Directors, the Chief Executive Officer
and those executives reporting directly to the Chief Executive Officer.
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The following table lists key management personnel

Key Management Personnel

Position Title

Dates position held

The Hon. Timothy Pallas

Responsible Portfolio Minister

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Jennifer Acton

Director (Chair)

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Pam Mitchell

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Sue O’Connor

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Mark Toohey

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Cressida Wall

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Andrew Nicolaou

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Helen Hambling

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Theo Theophanous

Director

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Agata Jarbin**

Acting Chief Executive Officer

24 February 2018 to 30 June 2018

Chief Operating Officer

1 July 2017 to 23 February 2018

Craig Dent*

Chief Executive Officer

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Michelle Johnston

Executive General Manager, People,
Brand & Communications

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Melanie Lewis

Executive General Manager, Client Services

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Sandy Chakravarty***

Chief Financial Officer

1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018

Josie Brown

Executive General Manager, Professional Services

11 September 2017 to 30 June 2018

Karen Jones

Acting Chief Operating Officer

19 March 2018 to 30 June 2018

* The Board of State Trustees Limited has teminated the employment of Craig Dent as of 26 July 2018.
** Agata Jarbin resigned on 2 October 2018.
*** Sandy Chakravarty was appointed Acting Chief Executive Officer on 2 October 2018.
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8.12 Related Party Disclosures (cont’d)
Transactions with Key Management Personnel
Significant transactions with Key Management Personnel principally comprise of employment remuneration. Details of
these transactions are outlined in the table below.
The compensation detailed below excludes the salaries and benefits the Portfolio Minister receives. The Minister’s
remuneration and allowances is set by the Parliamentary Salaries and Superannuation Act 1998 and is reported within the
Department of Parliamentary Service’s Financial Report.
Total $’000
Compensation of KMP’s

2018

2017

Short-term employee benefits

1,907

1,922

163

156

2,070

2,078

Post-employment benefits
Total Remuneration

Consolidated Entity

Parent Entity

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

2018
$000s

2017
$000s

inveST Diversified Income Fund

13,775

14,069

9,807

10,016

inveST Australian Equity Fund

3,654

3,465

1,725

1,636

17,429

17,535

11,532

11,652

inveST Funds

4,887

4,648

4,887

4,648

Common Funds

5,642

5,653

5,642

5,653

10,529

10,301

10,529

10,301

Total investment in inveST funds
Fees and Commissions received from:

Total Fees and Commissions *

State Trustees Limited received fees in its capacity as the Responsible Entity of the inveST Funds. State Trustees Limited
received fees in its capacity as Manager and Trustee of the Cash and Charitable Common Funds.
* Fees and commission represents amounts recognised in the Comprehensive Operating Statement as revenue. This will be net of any GST
where applicable.

Directors’ interests
There are no Directors’ interests in any of the Funds managed by the Group.
There are no other significant related party transactions.
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8.13 Workforce Data Disclosure

Ongoing Employees

Fixed Term

Employees
(headcount)

Full Time
(headcount)

Part Time
(Headcount)

FTE

FTE

Jun-18

438

349

89

352

54

Jun-17

380

311

69

357

27

Jun-18
Ongoing Employees

Jun-17

Fixed Term

Ongoing Employees

Fixed Term

Numbers
(headcount)

FTE

FTE

Numbers
(headcount)

FTE

FTE

Male

156

132

20

128

125

11

Females

282

220

33

252

232

16

Under 25

14

12

1

13

12

2

25-34

97

74

18

85

82

7

35-44

144

114

16

125

115

7

45-54

112

91

14

100

95

9

55-64

60

52

5

45

43

2

Over 64

11

9

0

12

10

0

Gender

Age

• All figures reflect active employees in the last full pay period of June each year
• Ongoing employees refers to people engaged on an open ended contract of employment and executives engaged on a
standard executive contract who were active in the last full pay period of June.
• FTE means full time equivalent.
• Excluded are those on leave without pay or absent on secondment, external contractors/consultants, and temporary
staff employed by employment agencies along with any staff on extended leave in the last pay period of June each year.
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8.14 Advertising Expenditure
In 2017-18, there were two advertising campaigns with total media spend of $100 000 or greater (exclusive of GST).
The details of each campaign are outlined below.
Details of Advertising Expenditure (campaigns with a media spend of $100 000 or greater)
2017 / 2018 (000s)

Advertising
(Media)
expenditure
(GST excl.)

Creative
Campaign
and
development
expenditure
(GST excl.)

Research
and
Evaluation
(GST
excl.)

Print
and
collateral
(GST
excl.)

Other
Campaign
Costs (GST
excl.)

Total

1

0

245

0

314

0

559

Name of
Campaign

Campaign
Summary

Start /
End Date

Lets Talk.
Phase 1

Brand
Campaign

14/05/2018 30/06/2018

177

67

0

Lets Talk.
Phase 2

Pricing
Campaign

01/07/2018 31/07/2018

249

65

0

426

132

0

1

8.15 Information and Communication Technology (ICT) expenditure
For the 2017-18 reporting period, the Consolidated Entity had a total ICT expenditure of $17,791,383 with the details
shown below.
All operational ICT Expenditure
(BAU) ICT
Expenditure

ICT expenditure related to projects to creat or enhance ICT capabilities
Total (Non-BAU)
ICT expenditure

Operational
Expenditure

$000s
$11,243

Capital
Expenditure
$000s

$3,274

$2,976

$298
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H. Notes to the Financial Statements (cont’d)

8.16 Consultancy Expenditure
Details of Consultancies (valued at $10,000 or greater)
Expenditure
2017/18
(excl. GST)
$’000

Consultant

Purpose of Consultancy

Alpha West Checkpoint

Cyber security incident response

76

76

ArchiTech Network and Communication

Advisory services for internet upgrade

11

11

BAE System

Advisory services for Data Standards Review

39

39

Bendigo Bank

Valuations

28

28

Bevington Consulting Pty Ltd

Process re-engineering

16

16

Bravura Solutions Operations Pty Ltd

Garradin software upgrade

14

14

Circle T Industries Pty Ltd

Power BI enhancement and training

31

31

Egon Zehnder International Pty Ltd

Advisory Services - Staff hire

60

60

Ernst & Young

Advisory services for STL Strategic Risk Review
and Risk Appetite

25

25

Estate Planning Equation-Preventati

Trusteeship Advice

11

11

Frontier Advisors Pty Ltd

Advisory services for Investment Strategy

50

50

Granite Consulting Pty Ltd

Strategic Pricing Project systems development
and enhancement

140

140

Iconinc Holdings Pty Ltd

Development of social media and strategy for
brand campaign

36

36

Lander & Rogers Lawyers

Legal Advice

330

330

LimePoint Pty Ltd

Oracle Fusion Middleware project

52

52

Maddocks

Legal Advice

336

336

Michael Page International

Staff hire including contractors and temporary
resources

195

195

NeoData Australia Pty Ltd

VERGL Development

56

56

Nous Group Pty Ltd

Advisory services for Client Services strategy

21

21

Objective Corporation Limited

Objective upgrades and enhancements

32

32

Omera Partners Pty Ltd

Recruitment Services

82

82

Robert Walters Pty Ltd

Staff hire including contractors and temporary
resources

108

108

Switch Legal Pty Ltd

Trademark advice

26

26

Synergy Asia Pacific Pty Ltd

Intranet development and implementation

41

41

System Partners Pty Ltd

HomesVic system development and
implementation and other project IT services

300

300

The Civic Group Holdings Pty Ltd

Review of external engagement capacity

20

20

Thomas Duryea Logicalis Pty Ltd

SCCM implementation

38

38

Trusted Impact Pty Ltd

System security testing

13

13

Trusted Impact Pty Ltd

Paperlite Project

11

11

2,198

2,198

Total
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Details of consultancies under $10,000
In 2017/18, there were 9 consultancies engaged during the year, where the total fees payable to the individual consultants
was less than $10,000. The total expenditure incurred during 2017/18 in relation to these consultancies was $26,862
(GST excl.).

8.17 Matters Subsequent to the end of the Financial Year
The Board of State Trustees Limited teminated the employment of Craig Dent, Chief Executive Officer, on the 26 July 2018
for serious misconduct, following an investigation into allegations that he had misused public funds. State Trustees has
referred the matter to the Independent Broad-based Anti-corruption Commission for investigation.
An investigation by the Victorian Ombudsman commenced after 30 June 2018. The investigation will examine State
Trustees’ role as the administrator of financial and legal affairs of vulnerable people. The new Chief Executive Officer will
commence on 29 October 2018.
There are no other circumstances which have arisen since 30 June 2018 not otherwise dealt with in this report that have
significantly affected or may signficantly affect the operations of State Trustees Limited, the results of those operations or
that state of affairs of State Trustees Limited.

8.18 Statement of Operations by Segments
The consolidated entity provides trustee and related financial services and operates predominantly within Victoria.

8.19 Registered Office
State Trustees Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its registered office and
principal place of business is:
1 McNab Avenue
Footscray, Victoria 3011
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Directors’ Declaration

In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of State Trustees Limited, we state that: In the opinion of the Directors:
(a) 	the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:
(i) 	giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its performance
for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) 	complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations)
and the Corporations Regulations 2001;
(b) 	the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in
Note 8.9.3; and
(c) 	there are reasonable grounds to believe that State Trustees Limited will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.
On behalf of the Board

The Honourable Professor Jennifer Acton
Chairman

Mark Toohey
Director
Melbourne, 29 October 2018
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Directors of State Trustees Limited
Opinion

I have audited the consolidated financial report of State Trustees Limited and its controlled
entity (together the Group), which comprises the:







Group balance sheet as at 30 June 2018
Group comprehensive operating statement for the year then ended
Group statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
Group cash flow statement for the year then ended
notes to the financial statements, including significant accounting policies
Directors' declaration.

In my opinion the financial report is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:


Basis for
Opinion

giving a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2018 and
its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

I have conducted my audit in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 which incorporates the
Australian Auditing Standards. I further describe my responsibilities under that Act and those
standards in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report section of my
report.
My independence is established by the Constitution Act 1975. My staff and I are independent
of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards
Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to
my audit of the financial report in Victoria. My staff and I have also fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion.

Directors'
responsibilities
for the
financial report

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of a financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001, and
for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of a
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless it is inappropriate to do so.
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Auditor’s
responsibilities
for the audit of
the financial
report

As required by the Audit Act 1994, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial
report based on the audit. My objectives for the audit are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report.
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. I also:









identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.
conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I
am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.
evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that I identify during my audit.
I also provide the Directors with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

MELBOURNE
30 October 2018

Andrew Greaves
Auditor-General
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It’s the things
we leave behind
that live on and
matter the most.

